
No. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

ARIZONA WATER BANKING AUTHORITY 

Wednesday,December15,1999 

NAME (Please print) 

!-1'1.f.r,l'---J f Iii �j£A ��'--
- I

B�/ere¾ 
Pb t{ t't-, -, . 

I hA-t. AA!. A G<=R.t� t..,../l.. (_ v" le tf 

/1/ar� /fu62">' �7mMr19/1 

;?, /;' /LVI R _\/-& p / c;,Q 
r 

iJ 
/; 

.'.1 / b C::::r _,,{v(../ fl , f. � Lt,�
();)tt-o <IJ,, "1 1rA1. , o/1 ---A-r --u(_,,,

� � J\) e,N. OS e\J\� \ ) 

� P-f: -Jo h A.so"'-

l.tv, f.sQuEe.�M 

C /µ c� C ;1/J-_ 
Vr-hJ L D� 

Glt.2,;-/ � 4 �11::; � ( T< A. '-I' 11 c, '-l--.i: Tr-€

Phone No. 

21 .1 .Z I -::/-Go J 2-

� l/ '? D) Lt> t[L/-,- 1/-?hi'-/

�00 �J-f-S<;of

5-2'.?) 74":2�0 ?'� 
thM-��t; -27t7 

Are YS � -5b/ 0

775"- WS- - 5?> IV

�Ol · )J '-I- l/?'7 Jo 

7 o --z. - 2 S" %--:J "� r

(pr/L- S'-12 - 512. � 

coo'Z- z '58 - 023 L-/ 

1D.).. 3-'-lb'f-u4'1.{ 
p, b, oox ti':27 g" 

SuN a, 't-y LL,h;�7 A-2: 



Arizona Water Banking Authority 
500 North Third Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85004 

Telephone 602-417-2418 

Fax 602-417-2401 

Web Page: www.awba.state.az.us 

FINAL AGENDA 
Wednesday, December 15, 1999 

10:00 a.m. 

Arizona Department of Water Resources 
Third floor conference room 

I. Welcome/Opening Remarks

II. Approval of Minutes of October 20 Meeting

III. Water Banking Staff Activities
• Deliveries
• Recovery Plan Activities

IV. Approval of 2000 Plan of Operation
• Overview of Public Meetings
• Comments

V. Update on Bureau of Reclamation Proposed Rule Governing Offstream Storage of Colorado

River Water
• Comparison of Draft and Final Rule
• Timeline for ADWR Director's Ruling

VI. Interstate Issues

VII. Call to the Public

Future Meeting Dates: 
Wednesday, March 15, 2000 

Persons with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language interpreter, 

by contacting the Arizona Water Banking Authority at (602) 417-2418. Requests should be made as 

early as possible to allow time to arrange the accommodation. 



ARIZONA WATER BANKING AUTHORITY 

Draft Minutes 

October 20, 1999 

Arizona Department of Water Resources 

Welcome/Opening Remarks 
All members of the Authority were present except for Dick Walden and Rep. 
Gail Griffin. 

Minutes 
The June 16 minutes were approved as submitted. 

Water Banking Staff Activities 

AUTHORITY MEMBERS 
Rita P. Pearion, Chairman 
Tom Griffm, Vice-Chairman 
Bill Chase, Secretary 
George Renner 
Richard S. W aldcn 

EX OFFICIO MEMBERS 
Representative Gail Griffin 
Senator Ken Bennett 

Rita Pearson informed attendees that Kim Kunasek, Technical Administrator for the A WBA, has resigned her 

position. Ms. Pearson also introduced the newest A WBA staff member, Gerry Wildeman, who has been job 
sharing the technical administrator position with Ms. Kunasek. 

Tim Henley, Manager of the A WBA, reviewed the 1999 water deliveries. The 1999 Amended Plan of Operations 
forecast deliveries of 373,325 acre feet of water to recharge facilities. It appears that actual deliveries will be less 
than that due to decreased recharge opportunities at the Groundwater Storage Facilities in Pinal County and 
GRUSP in Maricopa County. 

Mr. Henley also noted that due to the decreased frequency of Authority meetings, A WBA staff would be 
preparing a 1-2 page newsletter on a monthly basis to provide updates and information to the Authority and 
interested parties. The first newsletter will be prepared sometime in November. 

The amendments to HB 2463 have been codified and copies are available. 

Mr. Henley also discussed the CAP recharge facilities. Recharge is continuing throughout 1999 at the Pima Mine 
Road facility as they have received an extension of their pilot permit. The original pilot permit was issued for 
10,000 acre feet over two years and the extension was for an additional 10,000 acre feet over two more years; 
total recharge at the facility is 20,000 acre feet over four years (1997-2001). Construction is on going at the 
Lower Santa Cruz facility and recharge is anticipated to begin mid-2000. The Agua Fria facility continues to 
have delays and the CA WCD is looking for some limited condemnation power to assist them in resolving the land 
ownership problem; this would require legislative change. 

Update of Water Bank Participation in Indian Settlements 
Mr. Marv Cohen discussed the status of the Gila River Indian Community negotiations within the Pinal Action 
Management Area. There will be no action by the A WBA in 2000 with regard to recharge activities associated 
with this settlement. 

Recovery Update 
Mr. Henley informed the authority that WestLand Resources, the consultant hired by the A WBA, is continuing 
to revise the infrastructure database on the basis of information received from pertinent entities. Ms. Wildeman 
has been given responsibility for recovery issues and should be scheduling a meeting sometime in November. 

1 



Annual Plan of Operation 
The public meetings associated with the plan will be as follows: 

Tucson AMA-Friday, November 19, 1999 at 9:00 a.m. 

Phoenix AMA-Wednesday, November 3, 1999 at 9:30 a.m. 
Pinal AMA - Thursday, November 18, 1999 at 2:00 p.m. 

Mr. Larry Dozier, general manager of CA WCD, presented the current draft proposal for establishing pools of 

excess CAP water. 

Update on Bureau of Reclamation Pro�ed Rule Governing Offstream Storage of Colorado River Water 
Ms. Pearson explained that the rules are still pending. 

Interstate Issues 
Ms. Pearson briefly discussed the California settlement. Pertinent newspaper articles and press releases were 

included in the packet handed out at the meeting. 

Call to the Public 
The next meeting is Wednesday, December 15, 1999 at 10:00 a.m. 

The meeting was adjourned at 11: 15 a.m. 

2 



1999 DELIVERIES (by Month) 
Planned vs. Actual 

1999 

350_ , I 

j 
300 I - 1 �---1----�- _ -..... � - i _ =

1� L1tiFf �-� - il�:i_�--��-:- 1 1-- 1 
1-·--r---r �"j . f + -·-; l 
r--L,- --f--

� 

PLANNED (CUM) 

� __t __ --+--'---H +---�- I I : -- � IACTUAL (CUM) I- 150 ·
1 

--'-+--t-- - -�_I__ i - I i 

100 - _:
-
-���

-

- t - --- -L-.-·::r·-·rr-·r--.tJ 
501- +-.-!� I 1 1 _ 

1 -• - ��r--t -1--- i·---1--- ---- ·····•·-··+··•+·-~-h 
iSn feb m'ar af)r may jun Jul aug sep oct nov d�c 

Months 

Tucson AMA Deliveries (by Month )
Planned vs. Actual 

I : I 
2s 

--'--"-1 :
!-1--l-.+--l I 

20 -1-+-----'----->-------<---t 

! 15 
: ' : ___ L+-· tr 

I i-

:1 tH1:· J-q=p·---
- -- i i 'l! i t � ! : Ill 1

0 
· --

-
-- : - - • ,.. i ! i _2 I .■ , I 

>- J _____ ;--t!_ -·-
i 

! 
I i J ____ Ll : 1 , __ 1---•---- ---:-- T i 5 -· -- · -.1. · ··, - ' 

-- __ _J_ 

0. ' . . ' ' --, 
i 

jan feb mar epr may jun jul aug sep Oci nov dee 
Months 

--

PLANNED (CUM) 

ACTUAL (CUM) 

■ 
PLANNED 

ACTUAL 

Plan of Operation 

Phoenix AMA (by Month )
Planned vs. Actual 

25
0

1 i: ___ _[__--!.!Ii ! i 1[ 

I I ' ' . 
I I : 

200-, 1 11 :_-f 
I I l i ! i

m --,----- - ------ ---
1 ,. r-·- 1 · ·

� 150 ---. 
--

- -·-·1-·-r--r : J.:;, i I : :i --1------,-'---j--:-·; .... , ··•-·••--= -- --------,---
'!! , � ! i i I I i ]100 -- i ' ; J i ; I I i ,_ : �- �---1 I : I ---r--t

so - -- -�-,-- •--T-· -,__.______:_, t i � 
• + ! i I I I : ! 

��ii111ill11111i■ r 
jan tab mar aP, ll18y 1Un Jul al/g S8p oc1 rt0V dee 

Months 

PLANNED (CUM) 

ACTUAL (CUM) 

■ 
PLANNED 

□ 
ACTUAL 

Pinal AMA DELIVERIES (by Month )
Planned vs. Actual 

100 ·1 

80 I··'·· •---i·--rl --l-1' LLLJ. __ · 
� 

"3 j i I ,.- ! I I 

!"+= - �-+t, I
j 40 

-
t--'---..-+-.

+
--c ·"ft-•---

20 

>- 1 r i i I I I I . I I r-r-J i i I I 
--- -----,-

0. -, 
jan feb mar apr may jun jul aug sep ocl oov dee 

Months 

PLANNED (CUM) 

ACTUAL (CUM) 

■ 
PLANNED 

□ 
ACTUAL 



Actual deliveries updated 1 0-Dec-99 
Modified Plan of Operatior. April 1999 jan feb mar apr may jun jul aug sep oct nov dee total 

Phoenix AMA 
GRUSP 3,822 4,706 5,125 3,496 4,449 4,689 5,755 7,001 6,205 6,570 2,829 7,500 62,147 

7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 90,000 
NMIDD 2,034 2,778 3,894 1,097 4,766 164 1,892 12,059 8,129 4,338 3,177 2,000 46,328 

2,000 2,000 3,200 2,500 3,000 3,500 3,700 9,700 9,600 3,500 2,500 2,000 47,200 
QCID 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,145 5,193 2,118 1,380 1,202 2,460 13,498 

0 0 0 0 0 0 3,946 7,270 3,720 1,600 1,050 2,460 20,046 

MWD 0 0 1,766 2,944 2,944 2,993 2,961 2,976 1,789 1,627 0 0 20,000 
0 588 1,765 2,941 2,941 2,941 2,941 2,941 1,765 1,765 0 0 20,588 

TID 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 1,000 3,000 

SRP 6,281 5,327 2,292 2,234 2,299 1,788 1,863 0 22,084 
0 0 0 0 1,500 10,000 15,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 5,000 5,000 66,500 

VIDLER MBT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 4,920 

Subtotal 5,856 7,484 10,785 7,537 18,440 13,173 14,045 29,463 20,540 15,703 9,071 12,960 165,057 
Total to date 5,856 13,340 24,125 31,662 50,102 63,275 77,320 106,783 127,323 143,026 152,097 165,057 165,057 
Projected total to date 9,910 20,408 33,283 46,634 61,985 86,336 119,833 157,654 190,649 215,424 233,884 252,254 252,254 

Pinal AMA 
CAIDD 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,673 2,194 1,133 5,000 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,325 3,428 3,080 2,233 1,934 15,000 

MSIDD 1,906 1,475 372 0 4,126 5,794 0 0 0 2,228 2,091 2,730 20,722 
730 2,600 8,530 5,300 7,800 9,770 5,100 1,140 3,430 520 1,040 2,730 48,690 

HIDD 2,274 3,429 6,793 4,890 4,080 4,278 0 6,780 3,294 2,176 431 1,200 39,625 
0 0 4,581 6,000 7,500 4,800 0 6,600 2,800 1,500 100 1,200 35,081 

Subtotal 4,180 4,904 7,165 4,890 8,206 10,072 0 6,780 3,294 6,077 4,716 5,063 65,347 
Total to date 4,180 9,084 16,249 21,139 29,345 39,417 39,417 46,197 49,491 55,568 60,284 65,347 65,347 
Projected total to date 730 3,330 16,441 27,741 43,041 57,611 62,711 74,776 84,434 89,534 92,907 98,771 98,771 

Tucson AMA 
Avra Valley 0 0 0 0 407 712 408 460 276 540 527 400 3,730 

0 0 0 750 750 750 750 750 750 400 750 750 6,400 

CAVSARP 678 633 811 727 620 785 650 585 657 515 500 600 7,761 
600 600 600 600 600 600 700 700 700 600 600 600 7,500 

Pima Mine 1,248 1,145 129 8 0 1,198 849 1,297 1,241 1,277 1,287 1,300 10,979 
1,200 1,200 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 3,400 

Lower Santa Cruz 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 2,000 2,500 

Kai/Avra 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 

Subtotal 1,926 1,778 940 735 1,027 2,695 1,907 2,342 2,174 2,332 2,314 2,300 22,470 
Total to date 1,926 3,704 4,644 5,379 6,406 9,101 11,008 13,350 15,524 17,856 20,170 22,470 22,470 
Projected total to date 1,800 4,600 6,700 9,050 10,400 11,750 13,200 14,650 16,100 17,100 18,950 22,800 22,800 

TOTAL 11,962 14,166 18,890 13,162 27,673 25,940 15,952 38,585 26,008 24,112 16,101 20,323 252,874 
Total to date 11,962 26,128 45,018 58,180 85,853 111,793 127,745 166,330 192,338 216,450 232,551 252,874 
Projected total to date 12,440 28,338 56,424 83,425 115,426 155,697 195,744 247,080 291,183 322,058 345,741 373,825 373,825 



ARIZONA WATER BANKING AUTHORITY 

ANNUAL PLAN OF OPERATION 

2000 

Rita P. Pearson, Chairman 

December 1999 

DRAFT 



INTRODUCTION 

The Arizona Water Banking Authority (AWBA) was created to store Arizona's 
unused Colorado River water entitlement in western, central and southern Arizona to 
develop long-term storage credits to: (1) firm existing water supplies for municipal and 
industrial users during Colorado River shortages or Central Arizona Project (CAP) service 
interruptions; (2) help meet the water management objectives of the Arizona Groundwater 
Code; and (3) assist in the settlement of American Indian water rights claims. 

In addition to these functions, which were set forth in the AWBA's enabling 
legislation, the AWBA can now undertake some additional water banking activities. The 
Arizona Water Banking Authority Study Commission, created in 1996 to consider and 
recommend possible additional roles for the AWBA in carrying out Arizona's water policy, 
proposed a series of water banking amendments during the 1999 legislative session, all 
of which were approved by the Arizona Legislature and signed into law in April 1999 by 
Governor Hull. These statutory amendments include provisions to allow the AWBA to 
perform water banking services for specific entities in Arizona and create a mechanism for 
distribution of long-term storage credits earned on behalf of specific Arizona entities; to 
permit the AWBA to store effluent for the same purposes allowed for CAP water but only 
when all available excess CAP water has been stored or when excess CAP water is not 
available to the AWBA; to protect non-CAP surface water supplies; and to create a 
mechanism for long-term storage credit lending. 

The AWBA is required by statute to approve an annual Plan of Operation by 
January 1 of each year. Prior to approval of the final plan, the AWBA is required to solicit 
public comment by presenting the plan to the groundwater users advisory councils for the 
Phoenix, Pinal and Tucson active management areas (AMA) and to the county board of 
supervisors for counties outside of the AMA's if water storage is proposed there within the 
current plan. Presentation of the Plan of Operation must be made at publicly noticed open 
meetings at which members of the public are permitted to provide comment. 

The Plan of Operation is intended to govern the operations of the AWBA over the 
course of the entire calendar year. During the course of the year, changing circumstances 
may present limitations or provide new opportunities not contemplated in the adopted Plan, 
which could affect the overall delivery projections. In such circumstances, the AWBA may 
choose to modify its adopted Plan. If such modifications are required, the proposed 
modifications will be discussed and, if acceptable, approved at a public meeting of the 
AWBA. 

The AWBA recognizes that day-to-day adjustments in the normal operations of the 
CAP or the individual storage facilities caused by maintenance and fluctuations in the 
weather may affect the actual monthly deliveries made on behalf of the AWBA. If the 
adjustments do not impact the overall annual delivery projections contained in the Plan, 
they will not be deemed modifications to the Plan and will be addressed by staff and 
reported to the AWBA members on an as-needed basis. 

1 



1999 PLAN OF OPERATION 

In 1999, the AWBA's second full year of operation, the AWBA recharged 
approximately 250,000 acre feet of Colorado River water, bringing Arizona's total use of 
Colorado River water close to its normal year entitlement of 2.8 million acre feet (see 
Figure 1 ). 

3.00 

0.33 

2.00 

1.00 

1997 

ARIZONA DIVERSIONS 

Million Acre Feet 

1998 

Years 

l□OTHER ll]CAP □BANK I 

Figure 1 

0.26 

1.05 

1999 

Because the Secretary of the Interior declared that the Colorado River was in 
surplus in 1999, the increased use by Arizona did not impact the other Lower Basin states' 
uses. Total estimated use of Colorado River water in the Lower Basin will be 
approximately 7 .8 million acre feet in 1999 ( see Figure 2). 

10.00 

8.00 

C: 
6.00 

4.00 

200 

0.00 

1997 

LOI/VER BASIN DIVERSIONS 

Million Aue Feet 

1998 

Years 

lcCAUFORNIA uARJZONA □t-EVAM I 

Figure 2 

2 

1999 



The AWBA recharged water at underground storage facilities (USF) and 
groundwater savings facilities (GSF) in 1999. Table 1 lists the AWBA's recharge partners 
for 1999, the amount of water that can be stored under each AWBA water storage permit, 
and the amount estimated to be recharged by the AWBA at each facility in 1999. Final 
figures generally become available in the middle of the following year (in this case, mid-
2000). The amount of water stored is always greater than the amount of long-term storage 
credits earned by the AWBA because credits are computed by subtracting approximately 
3-5% for losses and 5% for a "cut to the aquifer" from the total annual deliveries.

Table 1 

AMA Facility Type Permit Capacity Amount Recharged 
GRUSP USF 200,000 AF 62,147 AF 

Queen Creek ID GSF 28,000 AF 13,498 AF 

Phoenix 
New Magma IDD GSF 54,000 AF 46,328 AF 

SRP GSF 200,000 AF 22,084AF 
Maricopa Water GSF 18,000 AF 20,000AF 

District 
MSIDD GSF 120,000 AF 20,722 AF 

Pinal 
CAIDD GSF 110,000 AF 5,000 AF 

Hohokam ID GSF 55,000 AF 39,625 AF 
Avra Valley (CAP) USF 11,000 AF 3,730 AF 

Tucson Pima Mine Road USF 10,000 AF1 10,979 AF 
(CAP) 

CAVSARP (Tucson) USF 15,000 AF 7,761 AF 

Total 821,000 AF 251,874AF 
1 . .  

In mid-1999, the Pima Mine Road p ilot permit was extended allowing an addItIonal 10,000 AF over a two year period. 

Though the Amended 1999 Plan of Operation scheduled approximately 370,000 
acre feet of water to be recharged around the state, the amount of water recharged 
amounted to approximately 251,800 acre feet. Several GSFs requested a reduction in 
water deliveries, and the AWBA recharged less water at GRUSP than originally 
anticipated. Figure 3 shows the acre foot break down between GSFs and USFs for 1999 
and a comparison between 1999 and previous years. 

0.40 

0.30 

0.20 

0.10 

0.00 

1997 

RECHARGE by TYPE 

Million Acre Feet 

1998 
Years 

!■GROUNDWATER SAVINGS !'.JUNDERGROUND STORAGE I 

Figure 3 

3 

1999 



2000 PLAN OF OPERATION 

When developing the 2000 Plan, the AWBA evaluated four critical factors: (1) the 
amount of unused water available to the AWBA for delivery, (2) the CAP capacity available 
to the AWBA for the delivery of unused water, (3) the funds available and the costs 
required to deliver the unused water, and (4) the capacity available for use by the AWBA 
at the various recharge facilities. 

For water year 2000, the Secretary of the Interior has declared that the Colorado 
River is in a surplus condition. A surplus declaration means that surplus water would be 
available to the AWBA as a source of unused water. Therefore, water availability will not 
be a limiting factor for the AWBA in 2000. 

The Central Arizona Project (CAP) 2000 Operating Plan accommodates the delivery 
of approximately 1.6 million acre feet of water. - CAP's plan delivers approximately 1.1 
million acre feet to its subcontractors, which leaves approximately 500,000 acre feet of 
capacity available for the AWBA. Based on this available capacity, the CAP's operations 
will not be a limiting factor for the AWBA in 2000. 

The funding available to the AWBA from its three sources (county ad valorem

property tax revenues, groundwater pumping fees, and general funds) to pay for the 
delivery of water in 1999 will be approximately $20 million including the carryover from the 
previous years. Given the costs associated with the delivery of water and the fact that the 
GSF operators continue to pay $21 of that cost when the water is delivered to their 
facilities, the $20 million is adequate to fund the AWBA Plan and is not a limiting factor in 
2000. For more information about the cost of the plan, please refer to the pricing section, 
infra. 

To assist in developing the 2000 Plan, each facility operator submitted an annual 
delivery schedule to the CAP. (The CAP schedules the AWBA's deliveries for those USFs 
it will be operating.) The CAP staff utilized these schedules to compile an annual schedule 
for the CAP, including municipal and industrial (M&I) water, water for Indian tribes, 
incentive recharge water, agricultural pool water, and AWBA water. As discussed 
previously, this integrated schedule was developed to conform to a 1.6 million acre foot 
delivery year. Concurrently, the AWBA staff met with the facility operators to discuss their 
delivery schedules and confirm their continued interest in participating with the AWBA. 
These discussions confirmed the availability of substantial permitted recharge capacity but 
also that limited capacity is available to the AWBA. Some of the GSF availability was 
limited by delivery cost, and other facilities were limited by operational issues. Operational 
constraints or previous commitments to other partners limited the availability of USFs to 
the AWBA. 

Based on its adopted Plan, the AWBA anticipates recharging approximately 
290,000 acre feet of Colorado River water in 2000. The Plan was developed utilizing 
permitted facilities located in Maricopa, Pinal, and Pima Counties. The Plan attempts to 
optimize, on a monthly basis, the delivery of Colorado River water to meet the AWBA's 
objectives. The Plan is flexible, and if additional recharge capacity can be identified and 
funding remains available, the Plan can be modified in the future to include additional 
facilities. 

4 



Based on projected uses, Arizona's use of Colorado River water in 2000 will be 
approximately 2.60 million acre feet (see Figure 4 ), which will be slightly greater than 
Arizona's 1999 use. The overall Lower Basin use is projected to be approximately 7.8 
million acre feet (see Figure 5). 

5.00 

2000 ARIZONA DIVERSIONS 

Million Acre Feet 
0.29 

l"JI OTHER □ CAP □ BANK 

Figure 4 

2000 LOWER B�IN DIVERSIONS 
Million Acre Feet 

LIi ARIZONA □ CALIFORNIA D NEVADA 

Figure 5 

2.56 

The CAWCD has proposed a policy for allocating excess water.
1 

The policy
establishes criteria for eligibility for a particular pool and establishes a pricing strategy 
for those pools. 

1 
Excess water is all Colorado River water available for delivery through the CAP under normal, shortage, 

or surplus conditions on the Colorado River that is in excess of the amounts scheduled for delivery under 
long-term contracts and subcontracts. 

5 



The first pool of excess water would be full price, including any capital charge, and 
would be available for sale to any Arizona user (municipalities, agricultural entities, water 
companies, private entities, Indians, or federal agencies). The first pool may be limited by 
the CAWCD Board. The second pool is the Agricultural Pool priced at "energy rate 1." 
This pool would be limited beginning at 400,000 acre feet and declining to 225,000 acre 
feet. The second priority pool is for non-Indian agricultural users only. The third pool 
would be incentive recharge at the "energy rate 2" plus other costs as set by current policy 
(approximately five dollars). This third priority pool is primarily for the AWBA, but cities or 
other municipal and industrial (M&I) entities could participate. If the federal government 
wanted to develop recharge credits; it could participate through the AWBA. Federal water 
banking efforts would be accomplished in a manner similar to that outlined in the proposed 
Interstate Water Banking rules first published in draft form in December 1997 and not yet 
finalized. Finally, the fourth pool would consist of any remaining available water for any 
use including non-Indian agricultural, Indian, federal, and recharge at the price set by the 
CAWCD Board each year. The fifth pool is for the AWBA for interstate storage purposes. 

Table 2 shows the AWBA's 2000 delivery schedule. Line One of this table provides 
estimates of the CAP's monthly deliveries to its M&I, agricultural, incentive recharge, and 
Indian customers. These deliveries have a scheduling priority over the AWBA's deliveries. 
These estimates do not include deliveries to New Waddell Dam. 

Line Two shows the capacity available to the AWBA after the CAP makes its priority 
deliveries and its deliveries to New Waddell Dam. The CAP is capable of delivering 
approximately 180,000 acre feet of water each month. The AWBA's capacity is 
determined by subtracting customer deliveries from the available capacity. The available 
capacity does not always total 180,000 acre feet/month because of unique situations such 
as the filling of Lake Pleasant in the winter months, deliveries to the western portion of the 
aqueduct, New Waddell Dam releases to the aqueduct in the summer months and 
scheduled maintenance. During the fall and winter months, the capacity available to the 
AWBA is constrained because the CAP is making deliveries to Lake Pleasant. 

Lines Three through Twenty-one represent the AWBA's 2000 Plan of Operation. 
This section identifies the AWBA's partners for 2000 and the amount of water scheduled 

to be recharged. The second column in this section identifies the AWBA's water storage 
permit capacities for each facility and the amount of that capacity that is available to the 
AWBA in 2000. The capacity available does not always equal the storage permit capacity 
because the storage facility operators may have agreements with other storage partners. 

Line Twenty-three lists the CAP capacity remaining after the AWBA's deliveries are 
scheduled. The CAP has shown in the past that there is some operational flexibility to help 
meet deliveries in any given month. The AWBA staff will work closely with the CAP staff 
and our partners in an attempt to meet all scheduled deliveries. 

6 



The values in Table 2 reflect the delivery amounts at the CAP turnout and do not 
account for losses incurred between the turnout and the actual point of use. Those losses 
must be calculated and deducted from the deliveries to determine the actual credits earned 
by the AWBA. 

In 2000, GSFs and USFs will comprise somewhat equal portions of the AWBA's 
water deliveries. Figure 6 shows the break down between GSF and USF water storage for 
2000. 

2000 RECHARGE by TYPE 
Million Acre Feet 

13.1GROUNDWATER SAVINGS 

□ UNDERGROUND STORAGE

Figure 6 

0.17 

No recovery is anticipated in 2000. The AWBA began developing recovery 
concepts in 1999 to ensure that the benefit of the credits developed will be realized by the 
area in which the funds are collected. An environmental consulting firm hired by the AWBA 
completed much of its work in 1999 and received input from various water entities in a 
series of meetings held in April and May 1999. The process resulted in the production of 
a CD containing water data for the Pinal, Phoenix, and Tucson AMAs. The AWBA will 
continue to pursue recovery concepts in 2000 and beyond. 

7 



Estimated CAP Deliveries + Losses : 

Table 2 

ARIZONA WATER BANKING AUTHORITY 
Water Delivery Schedule 

Calendar Year 2 0 0 0 
(ACRE-FEET) 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug 

2 8, 800 3 8,7 00 1 01, 000 14 0,3 00 14 6, 000 1 55,200 1 51, 800 13 5, 000 

Sep Oct 

72, 600 50,2 00 

(M&I, Indian, Ag Pools 1 , 2 & 3, Incentive Recharge) 

Nov Dec Total 

3 0, 500 2 6, 500 1, 07 6, 600 

1999 
Deliveries 

I 
l�CREfsET)i

2 Available Excess CAP Capacity for AWBA : 91, 000 82, 000 47, 000 3 5, 000 34, 000 2 5, 000 34, 000 55, 000 50, 000 3 5, 000 23, 000 23, 000 534, 000 

AWBA-- Recharge Sites: 

LA PAZ COUNTY: 

Permitted Requested 
Capacity Capacity 

( AF) (AF) 

3 I USF VIDLER WATER /.MBT .... -1-...... 10, 000 ............... ? ............. 1-------------
? 0 

4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 
10 

11 
12 

P HOEN IX AM A :

USF 

GSF 

6, 600 

0 

50 

0 

6, 600 6,600 6, 600 6,6 00 6, 600 6, 600 4, 600 4, 600 6, 600 7 5,2 00 62,147 
o 

····················6 
o 2,s oo 2,s oo 2, soo 2,s oo 2,sci"ii·

··
······:z":soo 1 s,0·60 ·a

1 00 
········f66····· 12 6 100 100 1 00 191 ··········fo·6··········· 

o 
(ff? ·

·
····

·
·
·
······················

·
o

o 
··········6········ 

o o 1, 633 2,3 53 2,3 53 ···········"6"······ 
o 

···fiii:i ··················20-:ifoo 

2, soo �1.9:9:9::::::::::::�.500 3,100 .... :::::::g;7.9.o 9, 600 3, 506
·
::::::

:
::}j§:f 2, 000 .... 1.?.i?..9..9. ::::::::::::::::::46,328 3,2 0_0 __ 

0 

2,12 0 

0 0 0 3,94 6 7,27 0 3,72 0 1, 600 1, 050 2,4 60 20, 04 6 13,498 
____ ·:::::::::::::::::::::::······----------···:::::::::::::::::::::::::···· .. ::::t::::::::::u::::::::::::::::::::: ........... Q 

2,12 0 2,120 2,12 0 2,120 2,12 0 2,12 0 0 0 0 

0 f9.N:!?P.A8.:I(?.:: ......................... ..I 1 s, 000 3, ooo r::::::::::::::::!c:::::·· o o o ... .9.................. o o o o o ........... 2, 000 _J,ooo 

1 
::���ll

··················22, 08
� 

PIN A L  AM A 

�� I GSF 
:��j{{��i:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: :iH�� �t!!� ::::iiif ::::::;!·

50� 5·;�� 6'00� 7 ·•;if :::::::::i�i�·! 4, 6
J i:iii H�� �+iz.:::::::::::::::li·� d�� �H�� ;till

r u c s6·N····A···M····A·····:"························· ································
__________ 

··················· 
___________ 

······················ · 

�� 
USF :���;,i�ty······ ��:��� �:��� :::::::::::�:gg::::::::::Jtj:�.... ;�� ;�� ;��···::::::::::::��:�::::::: ..... 50� 50� ;��··········:��

:
�
:::

:::
::::···

·
··
��� ;�� �:��� ;·:���I 

1 8 Pima Mine Road 1 0, 000 12, 500 1,0 00 1,1 00 0 0 1,3 00 1,3 00 1,3 00 1,3 00 1,3 00 1,3 00 1,3 00 1,3 00 12, 500 10,979 
19 Lower Santa Cruz 3 0, 000 1 0, 000 0 

···
:::::::Ji.::::.... 0 0 0 

····
·
·
·:
:
:
:
f:

:::
::::T§§.9..... 1, 800 1 ·;�9.9.:::::::::::$.§:f 1, 800 1, 800 9, 100 ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::9.

2 0 GSF Kai Avra 11, 000 ? __________ ? 
21 Kai Red Rock 11, 000__ (i()O --- 0 

·······6··········· 
0 0 0 ..... ?..

$.:9::::::::::······is"o"······················6······················
I

::::::::::::::::t
..... 0 0 500 

··································· 
0

22 I T O TA L ( USF + GSF) : 

23 I Remaining CAP Capacity : 

312,7 00 1 13,1 80 14, 000 19,49 0 18, 02 0 21, 64 0 21, 09 6 26, 636 4 5, 834 44,1 69 23,93 8 17,942 22,317 2 88,2 62 

77, 82 0 68,0 00 27, 510 1 6,9 80 12,3 60 3,9 04 7,364 9,1 66 

8 

5, 831 11, 062 5, 058 683 24 5,73 8 

251,874 



NEW PARTNERS 

In 2000, the Annual Plan of Operation anticipates recharging water at several new 
facilities. Some facilities have existing agreements and deliveries have been scheduled 
while others are still negotiating agreements. If agreements can be negotiated, it is 
anticipated that the existing Plan could accommodate certain facilities without amendment. 

Agua Fria Recharge Project 

CAWCD is developing the Agua Fria Recharge Project as a Maricopa County State 
Demonstration Project. It will be the first recharge project in Arizona to incorporate a 
combination of streambed recharge and infiltration basins in a single underground storage 
facility. The Agua Fria Recharge Project is located in the Agua Fria River channel within 
the Salt River Valley groundwater basin of the Phoenix AMA. As of Fall 1999, land 
acquisition remains the final issue to be resolved before the Agua Fria may operate. 

(1) Federal and State Environmental Requirements. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
(COE) has determined that the CAWCD's 404 permit application is complete and
correct. The COE is currently drafting the 404 permit. The Arizona Department of
Environmental Quality issued CAW CD the 401 permit for the project in July 1999.
All other required regulatory permits have been acquired.

(2) Land Acquisition. CAWCD is attempting to acquire access easements and rights
of-way to state and private land in the Agua Fria River channel. The Arizona State
Land Department is currently reviewing the right-of-way application and issuance
in early 2000 is anticipated. One of the 5 private land easements has been
acquired and negotiations are continuing on the others.

The Agua Fria Recharge Project is expected to be available to the AWBA for recharge in 
July 2000. 

Lower Santa Cruz Recharge Project 

CAWCD and the Pima County Flood Control District (PCFCD) are jointly developing 
the Lower Santa Cruz Recharge Project in the Tucson AMA. PCFCD is the lead agency 
in the permit process, design and construction of the underground storage facility. 
CAW CD will be the owner and operator after the facility is constructed. The Lower Santa 
Cruz Recharge Project is located about one quarter mile northwest of the Avra Valley 
Recharge Project along the Santa Cruz River. Scheduled project completion and final 
acceptance is May 2000, and the facility should be available to the AWBA for recharge in 
June 2000. 

Bouse Recharge Facility 

Arizona Public Service (APS) has obtained a permit for this facility and has had 
discussions with AWBA staff regarding recharge in the year 2000. No agreement has 
been negotiated, however, APS has proposed that approximately 3,000 acre feet could be 
recharged at the facility beginning mid-year. Prior to including this facility in the plan, 

9 



a public meeting with the La Paz County Board of Supervisors and AWBA approval to 
amend the plan would be required. 

Vicksburg Farms Facility 

The McMullen Valley Water Conservation and Drainage District has applied for an 
underground storage permit for this facility. The application has been publicly noticed and 
the draft permit is currently under review. The application is for a pilot project of 10,000 
acre feet of storage over a 10 year period. No agreement has been negotiated, however 
there have been discussions with AWBA staff regarding water storage at this facility in the 
year 2000. 

Kai Farms (Red Rock) at Picacho 

Mr. Herb Kai has a GSF permit for this facility in the amount of 11,231 acre feet per 
annum. No agreement has been negotiated, however based on staff discussions with Mr. 
Kai, there has been a small amount of storage at this facility included in the Plan. 

10 



INTERSTATE WATER BANKING 

The Secretary of the Interior published the final rule regarding Offstream Storage 
of Colorado River water on November 1, 1999 with an effective date of December 1, 1999. 
Prior to the AWBA initiating negotiations for interstate contracts, the Director of the Arizona 
Department of Water Resources (ADWR) must review the federal rule and make a 
determination that it adequately protects Arizona's rights to Colorado River water as 
defined by law. The ADWR's Legal Division is analyzing the adequacy of the rule with 
regard to protecting Arizona's rights. It is anticipated that ADWR will issue a draft opinion 
regarding this issue sometime in January 2000. The draft opinion will be distributed for 
public comment and finalized following the comment period. 

No interstate banking is included in this plan because the Director has not 
completed her review and made her determination. If the Director determines that 
Arizona's entitlement is protected, the AWBA could decide to negotiate interstate 
agreements. Once an interstate agreement is negotiated, the Plan could be amended to 
reflect additional deliveries and storage for interstate purposes. Prior to amending the Plan 
of Operation, the public would have the opportunity to provide comment. 

11 



PRICING 

The CAWCD established a subcommittee to review the existing delivery rate 
for the AWBA's water. Two members of the AWBA, Tom Griffin and Bill Chase, sat 
on the subcommittee which analyzed long-term delivery rates for incentive recharge 
water. Based on the subcommittee's recommendation, the CAWCD Board adopted 
a pricing policy that continues to offer incentive recharge water to both the AWBA 
and M&I subcontractors. For 2000, that policy established a rate of $44 per acre 
foot consisting of the following components: Energy Rate 2; ten percent of fixed 
operation and maintenance costs of the CAP system; and compensation for lost 
revenues. 

The AWBA's policy of recovering $21 from its groundwater savings facility partners 
will continue for 2000. Table 3 reflects the water delivery rate the CAP will charge the 
AWBA, the rate the GSF operators will pay for use of the AWBA's water, and the various 
rates the AWBA will be charged to utilize the different USFs. 

Table 3 

2000 Water Rates 

CAP's delivery rate to AWBA 

Groundwater Savings Facility operator portion of delivery rate 

Underground Storage Facility rate paid by AWBA 

GRUSP (SRP) 

Avra Valley (CAP) 

Pima Mine Road (CAP) 

Central Avra Valley (Tucson Water) 

Lower Santa Cruz (CAP/Pima County) 

Agua Fria Recharge Project 

$44 per acre foot 

$21 per acre foot 
1 

$14 per acre foot 

$20.30 per acre foot 

$7.50 per acre foot 

$14 per acre foot (estimate)2 

$16.50 per acre foot 

$2.50 per acre foot 

1 
This rate is paid directly to CAP by the GSF operators and is not available as revenue 
to the AWBA. The AWBA's rate for delivery of in lieu water is thus reduced to $23/af. 

2 
In 2000, the rate may be lower because of favorable energy costs. 

The estimated total cost of the AWBA's 2000 Plan of Operation is 
approximately $11 million which includes the USF use fees and the CAP delivery 
rate minus cost recovery from the GSF operator by the CAWCD. 

12 



ACCOUNTING 

The AWBA's enabling legislation required the development of an accounting 
system that allows the tracking of all long-term storage credits accrued by the 
AWBA and the funding sources from which they were developed. The Arizona 
Department of Water Resources has established accounts that track both credits 
and funds. 

Table 4 provides estimates of the funds available including funds carried 
over from previous years, the funds to be expended, and the credits that will accrue 
to those accounts based on the 2000 Plan. 

!Withdrawal Fee 
Phoenix AMA 
Tucson AMA 
Pinal AMA 

Four Cent Tax 
Maricopa County 
Pima County 
Pinal County 

!Other 
General Fund 

California 
Nevada 

TOTAL 

Table 4 

2000 PLAN OF OPERATION 

FUNDING
1 

AVAILABLE EXPENDED 

$6,492,000 $0 
$1,966,000 $0 
$3,096,000 $1,505,000 

$16,005,000 $6,581,000 
$3,626,000 $296,000 

$231,000 $230,000 

$2,000,000 $2,000,000 
$550,000 

$1,450,000 
$0 

(not applicable) 
(not applicable) 

$33,416,000 $10,612,000 

CREDITS 
2 

AMOUNT LOCATION 

0 Phoenix AMA 
0 Tucson AMA 

59,000 Pinal AMA 

151,000 AF Phoenix AMA 
5,000 AF Tucson AMA 
9,000 AF Pinal AMA 

35,000 AF 
13,000 AF Phoenix AMA 
22,000 AF Tucson AMA 

OAF Pinal AMA 

259,000 AF 

1 
Does not include groundwater savings facility partners' payment. The AWBA's partners 

make payments directly to the CAWCD. 
2 Estimate based on 89. 78% of the deliveries ( 1998 actual Plan of Operation loss
calculation) 

13 



Table 5 provides an estimate of the funds expended and the credits that will 
accrue to various accounts based on the AWBA's recharge activities since its inception. 

!Withdrawal Fee 
Phoenix AMA 
Tucson AMA 
Pinal AMA 

Four Cent Tax 
Maricopa County 
Pima County 
Pinal County 

k)ther
General Fund

California 
Nevada 

TOTAL 

Table 5 

CUMULATIVE TOTALS 

1997-1999 

EXPENDED 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$12,544,000 
$2,040,000 

$842,000 

$6,695,000 
$2,060,000 
$4,635,000 

$22,121,000 

CREDITS
1 

AMOUNT LOCATION 

Phoenix AMA 
Tucson AMA 

Pinal AMA 

349,273 AF Phoenix AMA 
34,248 AF Tucson AMA 
40,657 AF Pinal AMA 

297,518 AF 
61,009 AF Phoenix AMA 

236,509 AF Pinal AMA 

721,696 AF 

1 
Actual credits used for 1997 and 1998; credits estimated for 1999 

14 



PUBLIC REVIEW AND COMMENT 

The AWBA staff held public meetings in conjunction with the Groundwater User 
Advisory Councils (GUAC) for the Phoenix, Tucson and Pinal Active Management 
Areas (AMA) as required by the AWBA's enabling legislation. In general, the GUACs 
were supportive of the AWBA's efforts to date. 

Phoenix GUAC 
There was some discussion and questions regarding the use of general fund 

money and status of withdrawal fees. It was explained that the withdrawal fees are 
primarily for water management purposes and as the AWBA's goal has been firming, 
thus far, withdrawal fees have not been utilized. There was a request that the 
statutorily mandated guidelines for public meetings associated with the Plan be 
included in the Plan. This information was included in the Introduction. 

Pinal GUAC 
There was discussion regarding the use of general fund money, the possible use 

of withdrawal fees and the $21 per acre foot paid by the indirect users. There were no 
specific comments regarding the Plan or requests for modifications to it. 

Tucson GUAC 
The Tucson GUAC had a number of specific concerns with regard to the Plan. 

The GUAC requested that consideration be given to expenditure of general fund money 
in Pima County. The Plan has been modified pursuant to this request. There is a 
concern regarding the AWBA's limited participation in GSFs in the Tucson AMA. This 
is due to the existing $21 cost share by the indirect user. There are on-going staff level 
discussions with the AMA directors regarding possible resolutions to this concern 
through the utilization of withdrawal fees. Further, the Plan now includes a small 
quantity of recharge at a GSF in the Tucson AMA. The GUAC again raised the issue of 
limited review time of the Plan. 

15 



Comparison of the 

Proposed (December 31, 1997) and 

Final (November 1, 1999) Regulations for 

Offstream Storage of Colorado River Water 

(Bureau of Reclamation, 43 CFR Part 414) 

Prepared by the Arizona Department of Water Resources 
December 15, 1999 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

Part 414 Offstream Storage of Colorado 
River Water and IBteFstate 
Rea�tiae ef St0Fage Q:eaits in 

• Title tl.4e Le:wer Divisien States; 
Pr0posea Rule 

§ 414.1 This part sets forth the procedural 
framework fo1 �pr oval by the 
Secretary of the Interior.ef 

Purpose. ieteFState agreemee:ts for the 
offstream storage ef Colorado 
Ri11er :watel' in the Lower Division 

What the• States by State 
rule does A,utborwed eetit:ies ooasisteat :with 

State law. 1B accordance with the 
Secretary's authority under Article 
II (B) (6) of the Decree entered 
March 9, 1964 (376 U.S. 340), in 
the case of Arizona v. California, 
et al. as &1:1pplemeet:ed and 
ameecied.; this part also ioolades 
the proc,eew-al 
frame1.vork to atweIOll aaa FeE1eem 
storage er-edits assoa:alea with 
CalOFado River water stared 
offsl:Feam by amh� entities 
eoa&isteat with State la>.v. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

Offstream Storage of Colorado 
River Water; Development and 
Release of Intentionally Created 
Unused Apportionment in the 
Lower Division States; Final Rule 

{a) What this part does. This part 
establishes a procedural framework 
for the Secretary of the Interior 
(Secretarv) to follow in 
considering. oarti.cioating in, and 
administering Storage and Interstate 
Release Agreements in the Lower 
Division States {Arizona. California. 
and Nevada) that would: 

(1) Permit Stare-authorize.d 
entities to store Colorado River 
water offstream; 

(2) Permit Stare-authorized
entities to develop 
intentionally created unused 
aooortionment (ICUA}; 

{3) Permit Stare-authorized 
entities to make ICUA available to 
the Secret:arv for release for use in 
another Lower Division State. This 
release mav onlv take Qlace in 
accordance with the 
Se.cretarv's obligationsunder 
Federal law and may occur in either 
the year of storage or in vears 
subs�uent to storag:e; and 

(4) Allow only voluntarv
interstate water transactions. These 
water transactions can helQ to satisfy 
regional water demands by 
increasing the efficiency. fiexibilitv. 
and certainn'. in Colorado River 
management in accordance with the 
Secretary's authority under Article II 
(B) (6) of the Decree entered March
9, 1964 (376 U.S. 340) in the case of
Arizona v. California, (373 U.S.
546) <1963}. as SU[!Qlemented and
amended.

2 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

A WBA suggested the rule's title be 
amended to read "Offstream Storage 
of Colorado River Water and 
Creation and Delivery of 
Intentionally Created Unused 
Apportionment in the Lower 
Division States". This suggestion 
was incorporated into the final rule. 
A WBA suggested eliminating 
reference to the terms "storage 
credit" and "redeem" because they 
are unclear and could allow types of 
transactions beyond the statutory 
authority of A WBA. A WBA 
suggested inserting the phrase "for 
the Secretary to make available 
intentionally created unused 
apportionment to Lower Division 
States pursuant to Interstate Storage 
Agreements." This suggestion was 
incorporated into the language in 
§414.1 (A)(3).



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• What the This part does not address 

rule does 
intrastate storage or distribution of 
water &ot sabjeet tG an lat«state 

not do Starag,e Agr:eemeet 

§ 414.2 Authorized entity means-a-State 
water baekiag authority, or other 
entity of a Lower Divisioo State 

Definitions holdiag entit!emeets to Coleraao 
Ri•;er Wat«, �essly authorized of terms pw-suant tG aw}icable laW5 ef 

used in this Lower Divisioo States te: 

part. (1) Bat« into lateEstata Sta-age
Agreements; 

(2) De'trelop i.Btentianally
"Authorized ereated -.masecl app9ftioemeet; 
Entity" (3) A� the right to use 

i&teatioeal-ly el'eated QfN:lSeQ 
appaftieemeat; 0f 

(4) De'lelop Of redeem sterage 
GFeElits for the be&efit ef an 
au-thcrized e&t:ity ie aaother Lo't\rer 
Di1,risioe State. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

�} What this oa:rt does not do. This 
part does not: 

(1} Affect any Colorado River 
water entitlement holder's ri2bt to 
use its full water entitlemen!; 

{2} Address or oreclude
ind�ndent actions by the Secretarv 
Te1!3rding Tribal storage and watt.I" 
transfer activities; 

(3) Cb�e or exoand existing
authcrities tmder the body of law 
known as the ''Law of the River"; 

(4} Change the aoDCrtiooments 
made for use with.in individual 
States; 

(5) Address intrastate
storage or intrastate 
distribution of water; 

{6} Preclude a Storing State from
storing some of its tmused 
aooortionment in another Lower 
Division State if consistent with 
!!12Elicable State law; or 

(7} Authorize any soecific 
activities; the rule rrovides a 
framework onlv. 
Authorized entity means: 

{l) An entitv in a Stcring State 
which is exoresslv authorized 
eursuant to the laws of that State to 
enter into Stor!!ge and lnt.erstate 
Release A�eem.ents and develQQ 
!CUA ['storing entity"}; er

(2) An entity in a Coosuming
State which has authcritv under the 
laws of that State to enter into 
Storage and Interstate Release 
A2TCelllents and �uire the rimt to 
use !CUA ('consuming entiU'."}. 

3 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

ADWR expressed concern that the 
rule should not in any way affect the 
basic elements of the Law of the 
River. The suggestion was 
incorporated into the final rule, in 
that the rule now acknowledges that 
the rule does not change or expand 
existing authorities, but the 
acknowledgement is not entirely 
accurate. ADWR recognized that 
the adoption of a rule would in fact 
be an addition to the Law of the 
river. The final rule does change the 
otherwise unspecified discretion of 
the Secretary in administering 
Article II(B)(6). ADWR's concern 
was that the rule not attempt to 
change the basic elements of 
superior law, such as congressional 
acts and Supreme Court decrees. 

ADWR suggested the definition of 
"authorized entity'' be defined 
narrowly to prohibit individual 
entitlement holders, not specifically 
state-authorized to participate in the 
agreements, from exploiting the rule 
for purposes not intended. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

A WBA suggested the definition of 
"authorized entity" not refer to 
entitlements as a prerequisite and 
divided the definition into: 
(1) Expressly state-authorized

storing entities; and
(2) State-authorized consuming

entities.
These suggestions were 
incorporated into the final rule. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

"Basic Basic apportionment means the 

Apportion- Colorado River water apportioned 
te each Lower Division State when 

ment" sufficient water is available for 
release, as determined by the 
Secretary of the Interior, to satisfy 
7 .5 million acre-feet (maf) of 
annual consumptive use in the 
Lower Division States. The annual 
basic apportionment for the Lower 
Division States is 2.8 maf of 
consumptive use feF the State of 
Arizona, 4.4 maf of consumptive 
use fef the State of California, and 
0.3 maf of consumptive 
usefe.F the State of Nevada. 

''BCPA" Not included in the proposed rule. 

"Colorado Not included in the proposed rule. 

River Basin" 

"Colorado Colorado River Water means 

River Water'' water in or withdrawn from the 
mainstream 

"Colorado Not included in the proposed rule. 

River 
System" 

''Consuming Not included in the proposed rule. 

Entity" 

"Consuming Consuming State means a Lower 

State" Division State where watef made 
a-1,railable by reaeemiB:g storage 
eredits is <»' will be used. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

Basic apportionment means the 
Colorado River water apportioned 
for use within each Lower Division 
State when sufficient water is 
available for release, as determined 
by the Secretary of the Interior, to 
satisfy 7.5 million acre-feet (maf) of 
annual consumptive use in the 
Lower Division States. The United 
States Su�eme Court. in Arizona v. 
Californi� confirmed that the 
annual basic apportionment for the 
Lower Division States is 2.8 maf of 
consumptive use m the State of 
Arizona, 4.4 maf of consumptive 
use i!! the State of California, and 
0.3 maf of consumptive use i!! the 
State of Nevada. 
BCPA means the Boulder Can�on 
Project Act. authorized by the Act of 
Congress of December 21, 1928 (45 
Stat 1057). 
Colorado River Basin means all of 
the drain!!,ge area of the Colorado 
River Svstem and all other territcrv 
within the United States to which 
the waters of the Colorado River 
Svstem shall be beoeficiallv aoolied. 
Colorado River Water means water 
in or withdrawn from the 
mainstream 
Colorado lliver System means that 
portion of the Colorado River and 
its tributaries within 1he United 
States. 
Consuming entity means an 
authcrized entitv in a Conswning 
State. 
Consuming State means a Lower 
Division State where ICUA will be 
used. 

4 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 

A WBA suggested eliminating 
reference to storage credits in the 
definition for "consuming state" and 
inserting "where ICUA will be 
used". This suggestion was 
incorporated into the final rule. 



Final Rule 

Section 

''Consump-
tive Use" 

"Contractor" 

Text from the 

Proposed Rule 
Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

Consumptive use means diversions 
from the Colorado River less &llEh 
return flow to the river as is 
available for consumptive use in 
the United States or in satisfaction 
of the Mexican treaty obligation. 
Consumptive use from the 
mainstream within the Lower 
Division States includes all 
eeasumptive ase af :wateF from the 
mainstream,, iacll:laiag water 
drawn from the mainstream by 
underground pumping. The 
Mexican treaty obligation is set 
forth in the February 3, 1944, 
Water Treaty between Mexico and 
the United States, including 
supplements and associated 
Minutes of the International 
Boundary and Water Commission. 
GootFaGteF meaas aay persoe 0f 

ea�· m the Stat;es ef ,o. ... �aaa, 
Califomia, 0f Ne>:ada whe has a 
•,ralid eaatFact 0f agr,eemeat •+'lith 
the Yaited States fa!' the eleli•;eey 
ef Celomdo Riv« water. 

Text from the Final ADWR/AWBA 

Rule Comments on the 
Underlines indicate new text Proposed Rules 

Consumptive use means diversions No comment made. 
from the Colorado River less� 
return flow to the river that is 
available for consumptive use in the 
United States or in satisfaction of 
the Mexican treaty obligation. 

ill Consumptive use from the 
mainstream within the Lower 
Division States includes water 
drawn from the mainstream by 
underground pumping. 

a} The Mexican treaty obligation
is set forth in the February 3, 
1944, Water Treaty between Mexico 
and the United States, including 
supplements and associated Minutes 
of the International Boundary and 
Water Commission. 

Not included in the final rule. A WBA filed comments in response 
to the re-opened comment period 
announced in 63 Fed. Reg. No. 182, 
p. 50183 (Sept. 21, 1998). AWBA
commented that an authorized entity
in a storing state did not necessarily
need an individual contract with the
Secretary for water delivery. The 
comments were accepted in part in
§ 414.3(e).

5 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

''Entitle- Entitlement means an 

ment" authorization to beneficially use 
Colorado River water pursuant to: 

(1) A aeereea right,
(2) A contract with the United

States through the Secretary, or 
(3) A reservation of water from

the Secretary. 

"Federal J<edera} e&titlemeat heldeF 

Entitlement means a 1-eeeral ageaey 0f Iadiall 

Holder'' 
tribe :i:Ele&tified in A."tiele ll(I)� ef 
!he Deef'ee as hiwing aa 
ealitlemeat :feF !he beeeeeial \lse 

of Colorado River v,qter. 

''Intention- Intentionally created unused 

ally Created apportionment means unused 

Unused 
apportionment that is ereated 
solely as a resslt af an agreemeat 

Apportion- within a SteriBg State fei= the 
ment" JlllfPSse& of'.makiag Gelorade 

Ri•;eF wateF IP,a:i:lahle fei= ase in a 

(ICUA) coasammg State iB fulfillmeat ef 
a reqaest fei= �on af storage 
ereait.s puFSWmt to aa lB:terstate 
Stemge Agreement. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

Entitlement means an 
authorization to beneficially use 
Colorado River water pursuant to: 

(1) The Decree:
(2) A water delivery contract with

the United States through the 
Secretary; or 

(3) A reservation of water from
the Secretary. 

Not included in the final rule. 

Intentionally created unused 
apportionment or ICUA means 
unused apportionment that is 
devclCJPed; 

(I} Consistent with the laws of 
the Storing State: 

(2) Solely as a result of, and
would not exist except for, 
imQlementing a Storage and 
Interstate Release Agreement. 

6 

ADWR/AWBA 
Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

A WBA filed comments in response 
to the re-opened comment period 
announced in 63 Fed. Reg. No. 182, 
p. 50183 (Sept. 21, 1998). A WBA
commented that an authorized entity
in a storing state did not necessarily
need an individual contract with the
Secretary for water delivery. The
comments were accepted in part in
§ 414.3(e).
ADWR commented that the 
proposed rule placed too much 
emphasis on "entitlement holders" 
and that such emphasis could be 
misconstrued as allowing 
entitlement holders to participate 
beyond state authoriry. 
A WBA suggested changing the 
definition of "ICUA" to specify that 
ICUA is previously stored water, 
pursuant to a Storage and Interstate 
Release Agreement (agreement), 
that would otherwise be diverted by 
the Storing State from the Colorado 
River, pursuant to Article Il(B)(6) of 
the Decree. The final rule makes 
reference to the agreement in the 
ICUA definition, but does not 
reference the Decree or define 
ICUA as water previously stored 
that would otherwise be diverted 
from the Colorado River by the 
Storing State. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

"Storage and ��agreement means 
an agreemeet, ooesisteet with this Interstate 
palt.,lhal:�kw= offstream 

Release storage of Colorado River water-m 
Agreement" a Sta=ieg Saate fat: aathoraeci 

eatities m Coesumiag States and 
feF the FeEOVeey et: the &knd 
waleF.ABIBteFstate 
St:ero-ge Agreement will he 
ameeg-authorized entities ef two 
or more Lower Division States-and 
may iadude other entities that are 
determined to be 
appropriate to the performance and 
enforcement of the agreement 
YB.de£ Federal law and the 
respeetive laws of the SteriBg 
State aad the Co&sammg State. 

''Off stream Offstream storage means storage 

Storage" in a surface reservoir off of the 
mainstream or in a 
groundwater aquifer. Offstream 
storage alse includes indirect 
recharge when mainstream water 
is exchanged for groundwater 
that otherwise would be pumped 
and consumed. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

Suraaeand lnter.;tneRekase 

Aereemeo.t means an agreemen� 
consiBtent with this part, between 
the Secretmy and authorized entities 
fil two or more Lower Division 
States that addresses the details of: 

ill Offstream storage of Colorado 
River water by a storing enti!}' for 
future use within the Stcring State; 

(22 SubseQuent develQQment of 
ICUA bv the -storing entity. 
consistent with the laws of the 
Storing State: 

{3) A �uest by the storing entitr 
to the Secretarv to release ICUA to 
the consumin2 enti� 

(4) Release of ICUA by the
Secretarv to the consuming entitv. 
and 

{5) The inclusion of other entities 
that are determined by the Secretary 
and the stccing entity and the 
consuming entity to be appropriate 
to the performance and enforcement 
of the agreement. 

Offstream storage means storage in 
a surface reservoir off of the 
mainstream or in a ground water 
aquifer. Offstream storage includes 
indirect recharge when Colorado 
River_ water is exchanged for 
groundwater that otherwise would 
have been pumped and consumed. 

7 

ADWR/AWBA 
Comments on the 
Proposed Rules 

The significant change in this 
definition is the inclusion of the 
Secretary as a defined party to the 
Interstate Storage Agreement. 

A WBA suggested amending the 
phrase "offstream storage of 
Colorado River water in a Storing 
State for authorized entities in 
Consuming States and for the 
recovery of stored water" to 
"off stream storage of Colorado 
River water by an authorized entity 
in a Storing State in place of water 
within the Storing State's 
apportionment that the Storing State 
would otherwise divert from the 
mainstream, thereby making 
available ICUA to authorized 
entities in Consuming States". 

A WBA suggested that the term 
"recovery of stored water" should 
reference the development and 
delivery of ICUA. 

The final rule incorporated these 
suggestions by distinguishing 
between the offstream storage of 
Colorado River water for future use 
in the Storing State and the 
development of ICUA for release to 
the Consuming State. 

A WBA suggested the definition for 
"Interstate Storage Agreement" 
specify that the agreement is 
between authorized entities of two 
or more Lower Division States. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 
No comment made. 



Final Rule Text from the Text from the Final ADWR/AWBA 
Section Proposed Rule Rule Comments on the 

Strikeouts indicate text Underlines indicate new text Proposed Rules 
deleted in final rule 

''Present Pffseat perfe€tee l'ight oc PPR Not included in the final rule. No comment made. 

Perfected meaei; perfected rights defiaea by 

Rights" 
lheDeofee; mstmgas af.JUB:e� 
1929, lhe effeetive sate afthe 
Booleer Caeyoa �eet l.£t: (� 
Stat. l�+, 4J Y:.S.G. 61+} 
(BGP.�. 1\Y � perlected 
Fights aFe listed m the 
�emeatal decrees eatei=ed 
Jmmary 9, 19+9, aaa Apm la, 
1984, by the Uaited Slal:eS 
SQJffffie GOOlt m Arimao v. 
CalHornia, et al., as ameeaea or 
�- I .. 

"Storage Starag,e Greai� refei:s ta aa Not included in the final rule. ADWR and A WBA suggested the 

Credit" aeoollfltmg atM:ee ta feileGt a terms "storage credit" and 
EJuaatity ef Geloraae Ri•,ref wateF "redemption" be eliminated because 
that is s�ed effstream. they do not provide clarity and 

could be confused with the 
offstream storage and recovery of 
water within the Storing State. This 
suggestion was incorporated 
throughout the final rule and the 
terms were replaced with ICUA 
develoornent and release laniruae:e. 

"Storing Not included in the proposed rule. Storing enti� means an This change is consistent with the 

Entity'' authorized enticv in a Storing State. comments by A WBA and ADWR. 

"Storing Storing State means a Lower Storing State means a Lower A WBA suggested the "Storing 

State" Division State in which water is Division State in which water is State" definition specifically tie 
stored off the mainstream. stored off the mainstream .i!! water storage to the agreements. 

acoortlance with a Storage and This suggestion was incorporated 
Intel'state Release Agi:eement for into the final rule. 
future use in that State. 

A WBA suggested the definition 
specify that the water stored 
pursuant to the agreement is for 
future use in the state in place of 
water within the Storing State's 
apportionment that would otherwise 
be diverted from the mainstream. 
The final rule makes reference to 
future use by the Storing States, but 
does not require that the future use 
take the place of water that would 
otherwise be diverted from the 
Colorado River by the Storinl!: State. 

8 



Final Rule 

Section 

"Surplus 
Apportion-
ment" 

''Unused 
Apportion-
ment" 

"Unused 
Entitlement" 

''Upper 
Division 
States" 

''Water 
Delivery 
Contract" 

Text from the 
Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

Surplus apportionment means the 
Colorado River water 
apportioned te each Lower 
Division State when sufficient 
water is available for release, as 
determined by the Secretary, to 
satisfy in excess of 7 .5 maf of 
annual consumptive use in the 
Lower Division States. 
Unused apportionment means 
Colorado River water within a 
Lower Division State's basic or 
surplus apportionment, or both, 
which is not put to beneficial 
consumptive use during that year 
within that State. 

Yaused eelitlemeet meaas miy 
Gelerade Ri•�eF walef that is made 
available te bat eat sehedwea aaEl 
med by aa eatitlemeet helde.F 
during the year far whieh it is 
made available. 
Not included in the proposed rule. 

Not included in the proposed rule. 

Text from the Final ADWR/AWBA 
Rule Comments on the 

Underlines indicate new text Proposed Rules 

Surplus apportionment means the No comment made. 
Colorado River water apportioned 
for use within each Lower Division 
State when sufficient water is 
available for release, as determined 
by the Secretary, to satisfy in excess 
of 7 .5 maf of annual consumptive 
use in the Lower Division States. 

Unused apportionment means ADWR and A WBA suggested water 
Colorado River water within a stored under the agreement should 
Lower Division State's basic or be referred to as "otherwise unused 
surplus apportionment, or both, apportionment" or "Colorado River 
which is not otherwise put to water" (A WBA suggestion only), 
beneficial consumptive use during not ''unused apportionment" since 
that year within that State. the water is counted as a 

consumptive use in the year it is 
stored and is therefore not unused. 
This suggestion was incorporated 
into the final rule. 

Not included in the final rule. A WBA suggested eliminating this 
definition because it is used 
inappropriately in the rule. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

U12� Division States me.ans the No comment made. 
States of Colorado, New Mexico, 
Utah. and Wvoming. 

Water deliv� contract means a This new definition is not consistent 
contract between the Secretan• and with the comments made by A WBA 
an enti!}'. for the deliverv of on August 21, 1998. A WBA 
Colorado River water in accordance commented that a section 5 contract 
with section 5 of the BCPA. is not necessary for an authorized 

entity and further commented that a 
section 5 contract is not the only 
means by which an authorized entity 
may accept delivery of Colorado 
River Water. 

9 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

§ 414.3 (a) Interstate storage agreements.
In aooordaaee 'With 1� 

Il(B1€6) ci the Deeree, authorized
Storage entities of two or more l:.eweF

and Divisioa States may enter into
ltlterstat:e Storage ,",.g-eemeats

Interstate sabjeet to the appreval of ihe

Release Seeretary in accordance with

Agree-
paragraph (a) of this section. AB
lntefSt:ate Swmge Agr--eement will

ments. a!lawaa authcrized e&lity ia a
St-eFiBg State to ster-e uaused

Basic 
eatitlemeat asd/.er tmused

• appertieemeat feF lhe EffJElit af aa
Require- aalhemed � located ia a
ments Geas1:1miag State aae will pmviEle

feF the subsel}aeat Fedemptioa of
the ereeit.

• Quantity Such an agreement must: 

of stored (1) Specify the quantity of

water
Colorado River water to be stored, 
by which aalh� entity it will 
be stored, the Lower Division 
State in which it is to be stored, 
and the stemge facility(ies) in 
which it will be stored. 

• Type of (2) Specify whether the water to be

stored stored will be basie
appertioameat ff0m. the Storing

water State.

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(a) Basic requirements for Storage
and Interstate Release
Agreements. Two or more
authorized entities may enter into
Storaee and Interstate Release 
Ageements with the Secretarv in 
accordance with paragraph (g of 
this section. Each .w-eement must 
meet all of the �uirements of this 
section. 

(1) The agreement must specify the
quantity of Colorado River water
to be stored, the Lower Division
State in which it is to be stored, the
entity(ies) that will store the water,
and the facility(ies) in which it will
be stored.

(2) The agreement must specify
whether the water to be stored will
be within the unused basic
aooortionment or unused surolus
apportionment of the Storing State.

10 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

A WBA suggested eliminating the 
citation of the Decree as legal 
authority for an agreement because 
it is inappropriate. This suggestion 
was incorporated into the final rule. 

A WBA suggested eliminating the 
term "unused apportionment" since 
the Decree does not allow individual 
entitlement holders to store unused 
entitlement for the credit of an 
authorized entity in a Storing State. 
Additionally, ADWR and A WBA 
suggested water stored under the 
agreement should be referred to as 
"otherwise unused apportionment" 
or "Colorado River water" (A WBA 
suggestion only), not ''unused 
apportionment" since the water is 
counted as a consumptive use in the 
year it is stored and is therefore not 
unused. The final rule eliminated the 
term ''unused apportionment" in 
relation to the water stored under the 
agreements and modified the 
definition for "unused 
apportionment". 

A WBA suggested either eliminating 
reference to storage credits or using 
the undefined term "credit". The 
final rule eliminated all references to 
storage credits and their redemption. 
No comment made. 

ADWR suggested the rule should 
specifically allow the Storing State 
to store its unused surplus 
apportionment, in addition to its 
unused basic apportionment. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Offering Not included in the proposed rule. 

of water
to Storing
State's
entitle-
ment
holders

• Type of (2) Specify whether the water to be

water stored will be ... unused basic

stored
apportionment or unused surplus
apportionment of the Consuming
State.
If it is to be tm:usea appartioomea.t,
it may enly be made available
from the Consummg State aBd the
agreemeet mast so specify.

• Availabi- Not included in the proposed rule. 

lity of
unused
apportion
-ment to
storing
entity

• Quantity (3) Specify the quantity of steFage

of
eredit:s assoeiated with water
stored offstream that will be

released available t&the aat=horii,ed entity
ICUA ia the Consuming State at lbe time

1.vater is aemally stored lmBel' the

agreement. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

Fer water from 1he Stcring State's 
apportionment to gualifv as unused 
apportionment available for stora� 
under this oan. the water must first 
be offered to all entitlement holders 
within the Storing State for nurooses 
other than interstate transactions 
under oroPOSed Storage and 
Interstate Release Aereements. 
(3) The agreement must specify
whether the water to be stored will
be within the unused basic
apportionment or unused surplus
apportionment of the Consuming
State. If the water to be stored will
be unused �oortionment of the
Consuming State. the agreement
must acknowledge that any unused
apportionment of the Coosuming
State may be made available from
the Consuming Stat.e bv the
Secre!:!!CT to the Stcring State ooly
in accordance with Article Il(B)(6}
of the Decree.

If unused aE�tionment from the 
Consuming State is to be stored. the 
Secre-tarv will make the unused 
aEPOTtionment of the Coo.suming 
State available to the storing entin, 
in accordance with the terms of a 
Storage and lnter'state Release 
A�ee1nent andwilln�makeili� 
water available to other entitlement 
holders. 

(4) The agreement must specify the
maximum quantity of ICUA that
will be develooed and made
available for release to the
consuming en.tin,.

11 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

No comment made. This section 
was added by the Secretary. It is 
consistent with the A WBA enabling 
legislation, which prohibits the 
A WBA from storing water that 
would otherwise have been used 
within this state. A.R.S. § 45-
2427(B). 

Both A WBA and ADWR 
commented that the rule precludes 
by implication the Storing State's 
ability to store surplus 
apportionment. All Lower Division 
states are allowed to divert for 
storage or use any water apportioned 
to it by the Decree, and the rule 
should not purport to narrow this 
authority. Comment was also made 
that a Consuming State's unused 
apportionment must be delivered to 
the Storing State l.lllder Article 
Il(B)(6) of the Decree. These 
comments were incorporated in the 
final rule. 
ADWR suggested prohibiting 
individual entitlement holders, not 
specifically state-authorized to 
participate in the agreements, from 
exploiting the rule for unintended 
purposes. This section makes clear 
that the Secretary will direct the 
Consuming State's unused 
apportionment to the storing entity 
in accordance with the terms of an 
approved agreement. 

A WBA suggested eliminating 
reference to storage credits at the 
time the water is actually stored and 
requiring the agreement to "specify 
the maximum amount of ICUA that 
will be available to the authorized 
entity in the Consuming State". The 
final rule incorporated this 
suggestion, and clarified that the 
specified quantity of ICUA will be 
develoned (future tense). 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Release·of {41 � that aeamwlated 

ICUA
Storage � may D� he 
FeaeOmed wiihia !he same 
ealeadar year iB eidl the water 
that gms:ated theee credits was 
stored ofmt:ream. 

Request �41 Sf)ecify that aeoomulated • 

forICUA 
Ster-age eFeElits may Bet 8e 
Fedeemed wilhia the .same 
ealeadar Yew' iB whieh the water 
that geaerateEl thooe � was 
stored offstream. 

• Account- M SteFeEI water. The aulhemsed 

ing of
eetity of the Storing State will 

stored
account for the water <tivertee aad 
stored effst:ream Wlet!f aa 

water IaleFstate Starage Agreement, aaEI 
pri0F to aay reaempt:i:oo ef'. stemge 
eFeElits will .eerufy to the SeeFetaey 
lhat water associated •.vi:th sterage 
eFeElits has been stored. 

Request (5) Specify that theallth�
• 

forlCUA 
eetity m lhe Cow;uming State will
provide notice to the Lower
Division States and to the
Secretary no latei= than Na,1embef
30 ef'. its mteetioo to�
Eleli•,rery of a specific quantity of
ColoraElo Ri¥eF wate£ by
Fedeemmg aooumu1ateEl
storage Cffiiits in the following
calendar year.

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

This release mav oolylake ·place in 
accordance with 1he Scaetan•'s 
obligations under Fooernl law and 
may occur in either the year of 
storage or in vears subsoouent to 
storage. 

(5} The �eement must specify that 
ICUA may not be requested by the 
conswning entity in a guanti�· that 
exceeds the guantitI of water 
that had been stored under a Storage 
and Interstate Release Agreement in 
the Storinl! State. 

{6) The agreement must soecifv a 
procedure to verify and account for 
the quantity of water stored in the 
Storing State under a Sura.2:e and 
Interstate Release Ae:reement. 

(7) The agreement must specify that,
by a date certain. the oonsuming
entity will:

(i) Notify the stcring entity to
develop a specific quantity of 
ICUA in the following calendar 
year; 

(ii) Ask the Secretarv to release
that ICUA; and 

(iii) Provide a oopy of the notice
or request to each Lower 
Division State. 

12 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 
Proposed Rules 

A WBA commented that the 
protection against redemption of 
accwnulated storage credits should 
extend beyond the year of storage 
and always protect the Storing State 
from redemption beyond that 
authorized by the agreement. No 
comment made by A WBA or 
ADWR on the Consuming State's 
ability to request water in the year of 
storage. 
A WBA suggested eliminating 
reference to storage credits and 
prohibiting ICUA from being 
requested "in an amount that 
exceeds the amount of water then in 
storage pursuant to the [agreement] 
in the Storing State". This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 
A WBA suggested clarifying the 
sequence of events that would occur 
before water is delivered to the 
Consuming State. This suggestion 
was incorporated into the final rule. 
§414.3 (c) was renumbered as
§414.3 (a)(6), and the remaining
steps are incorporated into
§414.3(a)(7) thru (15).

A WBA suggested eliminating the 
November 30 deadline for notice 
and allow the parties and the 
Secretary to reach a mutually 
acceptable date by a date certain to 
be specified in the agreement. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

A WBA suggested eliminating 
reference to storage credits and 
substituting ICUA release language. 
This suggestion was incorporated 
into the final rule. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

Develop- (6) Specify that theaulhame,J• 

ment of 
eality ofa Stffing Sblte, after
receiving aB.atiee aiBle&lioo te

ICUA redeem effsa:tt:em.'Stemgeeeaits,
will take aaio&S le ensure that the
Storing State's consumptive use of
Colorado River water will be
decreased by a quantity sufficient
to develop intentionally created
unused apportionment le offset the
deliYery ef Colerade Ri1,•er water
for ase ie the CaBsamiag State iB
fulfiUmeat ef the storage ereeits.

Descrip- (7) Speeify vmie-h actions the• 

tionof authorized entity will take to

ICUA 
develop intentionally created
unused apportionment.

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(8) The agreement must specify that
when the storing entity receives a
�uest to devel� a specilic
quantity of la.JA: 
_fill! will ensure that the Storing 
State's conswnptive use of Colorado 
River water will be decreased by a 
quantity sufficient to develop the 
�uested guantity of ICUA; and 

(ii} Any actions that the stcriru! 
entity takes will be consistent with 
its State's laws. 

(9) The agreement must include a
description of:

(i) The actions the authorized
entity will take to develop ICUA; 

{ii) Potential actions to decrease 
the authorized entity's consumptive 
use of Colorado River water; 

(iii) The means !n: which the
develoQment of the ICUA will be 
enforceable by the storing entitv: 
and 

(iv} The notice given to 
entitlement holders. including 
Indian tribes, of oooortunities to 
particiQate in development of this 
ICUA. 

13 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

A WBA suggested incorporating 
§414.3(A)(6) and (7) into one
provision. This suggestion was not
incorporated into the final rule.

A WBA suggested eliminating 
reference to storage credits and 
substituting ICUA language. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

A WBA suggested specifying that 
the storing entity will use water 
previously stored, pursuant to the 
agreement, to develop the requested 
ICUA. This suggestion was not 
incorporated into the final rule. 

A WBA suggested specifying that 
the ICUA will be made available by 
the Secretary only to the authorized 
entity in the Consuming State. This 
suggestion was incorporated into 
§414.3 (A)(l2)(iii) of the final rule.
ADWR suggested ICUA production 
should be directly tied to recovery 
and the use of water previously 
stored pursuant to an agreement. 
This suggestion was not 
incorporated into the final rule. 
ADWR also suggested that it would 
be inappropriate to include other 
methods without allowing interested 
parties to analyze the 
appropriateness of the other 
methods. The final rule requires 
the agreement to specify the actions 
by which ICUA has or will be 
developed and the means by which 
the Storing State will decrease its 
consumptive use of Colorado River 
water. Presumably, interested 
parties will be able to comment on 
the methods during the NEPA 
review of the proposed agreement. 

The final rule does seem to require 
that water actually be stored in the 
Storing State as part of the interstate 
transaction. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

Develop- (8) Specify that theautherized• 

ment of 
entity efthe Storie:g State must

ICUA 
certify to the Secretary that
intentionally created unused
apportionment has been developed
that would not otherwise exist and
that the authorized entity will
request the Secretary to make
available that� ef Gelerada
River :water for ase in the
GoaSl:HBiag State
pursuant to Article Il(B)(6) of the
Decree to r«ieem starage a:eeit:s.

• Veriti- Not included in the proposed rule. 

cation of 
ICUA 

• Release of E81 Redemptioo ef stemge ereaits. 

ICUA
The Seecetaty must he satisfied 
that neeessaey aetiOO:s ha>,re beea 
takee t:e �ep iatffltiooally 
er.eated uaused appeFtieameat for 
:reeemptian af storage GFedits. 
Qaee this Eiet:eFmiaatiee has been 
made, the See;retary will make 
a,•�ea 

EIUaatity ef Geleraae }w,ter wateF 
ta reEleem those credits eoosisteB-t 
with the BCPA, Article II(B)(6) of 
the Decree, and all other 
applicable laws. Intentionally 
created unused apportionment that 
is developed by the 
aathori-zed �· eF the Sterieg 
State will he made a>.railable te 
the aulheaa!d entity ef the 
GOllSl:HB:iag State aad will sot he 
made available te atheF GaatraeteFs 
0F I<edeml entitlement holders. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(10) The agreement must specify
that the stcxin.g entity will
certify to the Secretary that ICUA
has been or will be developed that
otherwise would not have existed.
The certification must:

(i) ldentifv the guantitv, the
means. and the entirv b,• 'Mtich 
ICUA has been or will be 
developed; and 

(ii) Ask the Secretary to make the
ICUA available to the consuming 
entity under Article Il(B)(6) of the 
Decree and the Storage and 
Interstate Release Agreement. 

{11) The ru?:Teement must soecifv a 
orocedure for verifving develooment 
oftheICUA a ;..te to the 
manner in which it is develooed. 
12) The �eement must specify that
the Secretarv will release ICUA
developed by_the storing entitv:

(i) In accordance with a r�uest of
the con.sum.mg entin,_; 

(ii} In acc.ordance with the terms 
of the Storage and Interstate Release 
Agreement; 

(Iii) Onlv for use bv the 
consumin2 entitv and not for use bv 
other entitlement holders; and 

(M In accordance with the terms 
of the Staraae and Interstate Release 
Agreement, the BCPA, Article 
Il(B)(6) of the Decree and all other 
applicable laws and executive 
orders. 

14 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 
Proposed Rules 

A WBA suggested eliminating 
reference to storage credits and 
substituting ICUA language. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

A WBA suggested specifying the 
ICUA would be delivered to the 
authorized entity in the Consuming 
State. This suggestion was 
incorporated into § 414.3(a)(12)(iii) 
of the final rule. 

A WBA suggested requiring the 
agreement to specify the procedure 
under which the authorized entity in 
the Storing State will verify to the 
Secretary that the ICUA has or will 
be created. This suggestion was 
incorporated into the final rule, 
which requires the storing entity to 
specify the quantity, means, and 
entity by which the ICUA will be 
developed. 
No comment made. This new 
section compliments the enhanced 
requirements of §414(a)(10) above. 

ADWR suggested the rule ensure a 
Storing State of the future benefit of 
receiving ICUA by specifying that 
the Secretary will commit to deliver 
ICUA to a authorized entity in a 
Consuming State pursuant to Article 
II (B)(6) of the Decree in 
accordance with an approved 
Interstate Storage Agreement. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

A WBA suggested clarifying that, if 
all the terms of the agreement are 
met, the Secretary will make the 
requested amount of ICUA available 
only to the authorized entity of the 
Consuming State. This suggestion 
was incorporated into the final rule. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Release of Not included in the proposed rule. 

ICUA

• Release of Not included in the proposed rule.

ICUA 

• Veriti- Not included in the proposed rule. 

cation of

ICUA

• ldemni- (9) Indemnify the United States, its

fication of
employees, agents,

us
subcontractors, successors, or
assigns from loss or claim for
damages and from liability to
persons or property, direct or
indirect, and of any nature
whatsoever arising by reason of
the actions taken by the Yaited
States iB aee0FeaBee with this part.

• us (10) ldeetify the extent to which

facilities 
facilities constructed or financed
by the United States will be used
to store, convey, or distribute
water associated with an letefstate
Storage A.greemeat.

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

{13) The am,ementmustspecify 
1hat ICUA shall be released to the 
� enti!J'. ooly in the year 
and to the extent that ICUA is 
develooed by the stcrin2 entitv bv 
reducing C.olorado River ·water use 
within the Storine: State. 

{14} The meement must soecifv 
!hat. the Secret.arv will release ICUA 
ooly after the Secretarv has 
determined that all necessarv actions 
have been taken under this oart. 
(15} The �eement must specifv 
that before releasing ICUA the 
Secretan• must first determine that 
the storing entity: 

(i) Stored watex in acc.ordance
with the Stor�e and Interstate 
Release Ae:reement in guantities 
sufficient to support the 
development of the ICUA r�uested 
b}· the consuming enti!Y; and

{ii) Certified to the satisfaction of
the Secretarv that the guantin• of 
ICUA r�uested bv the consuming 
enti!}'. has been develooed in that 
year or will be develooed in that 
vear under Sec. 414.3m. 
(16) The �eement must soecifv 
that the non-Federal oarties to the 
Storage and Interstate Release 
Agreement will indemnify the 
United States, its employees, agents, 
subcontractors, successors, or 
assigns from loss or claim for 
damages and from liability to 
persons or property, direct or 
indirect, and loss or claim of any 
nature whatsoever arising by reason 
of the actions taken by the non-
federal parties to the S� and 
Interstate Release A�eement under 
this part. 
(17) The agreement must specify the
extent to which facilities constructed
or financed by the United States will
be used to store, convey, or
distribute water associated with �
Storage and Interstate Release
Airreement.

15 

ADWR/AWBA 
Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

No specific comment made, but this 
change is consistent with A WBA 
and ADWR's overall view of how 
the rule should operate, and 
A WBA's comment that the 
procedures for implementing release 
of ICUA should be clarified in the 
final rule. 
No comment made. 

A WBA suggested that the Storing 
State certify to the Secretary that 
ICUA has been or will be created. 
The anticipatory release of ICUA is 
incorporated in §414(f). 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Relevant Not included in the proposed rule. 

factors

• Financial � Awro>,ral by the Seeretary ... 
The Seeretary will OOB:&ider, considera
.among other rele>,<ant faetors: the 

-tions direet or iadireet consequeaees of 
the preposed lBterstate Sta:a-ge 
Agreemeet on the financial 
interests of the United States. 

Agree- (b) Pq:lpf'8·,tal by the Seeretary. A • 

ment 
Fe!Jue&t fef appre>,al of aa 

execution 
luterstate Storage Agreement 
sboola be made ia >+vritia-g to the 
Seeretary. The reEJaesl will be 
aekaowled.ged ia v.ritia-g by the 
Seeretary within 10 business days 
of reseipt. The reqaest shoold 
iaelooe eopies of the proposed 
� agi,eemeat aad aay 
additional suppcrtmg data 
that clearly set forth the details af 
the proposed transaetioo. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(18) The a.aeement must include 
an}· other g[Qvisions that the oarties 
deem ... 

Cb) How to address financial 
considerations. The Secret.arV will 
not execute an agreement that has 
adverse impacts on the financial 
interests of the United States. 
Financial details between and 
among the non-Federal oarties need 
not be included in the Storage and 
Interntate Release Agreement but 
instead can be the subject of 
seoarate agreements. The Secretary 
need not be a oartv to the seoarate 
aereements. 
{c) How the Secre� will execute 
stora� and interstate release 
agreements. The Regional Director 
for the Bureau of Reclamation's 
Lower Colorado Region <R.erional 
Director} mav execute and 
administer a Storage and lnterstate 
Release Ae;reement on behalf of the 
Secretary. The Secretarv will notifv 
the Qublic of his/her intent to 
�articipate in n�otiations to 
devel� a Storage and Interstate 
Release Agreement and m:QVide a 
means for nnblic inn•L 

16 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

No comment made. 

No comment made. Nevada 
requested that the Secretary not be a 
party to the financial terms of the 
interstate storage agreement. 

No comment made. 



Final Rule 

Section 

• Relevant

factors

• Agree-

ment

execution

Text from the 

Proposed Rule 
Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

IB:RMeWiagtheptepeeed 
mtfflltak! agreemeet, the Secretary 
will consider, amoog ether 
relewmt fartool: applicable law; 
applicable contracts; potential 
effects on trust resources; poteatial 
effects ea water rights holders, 
including eoetmetara, Fedeml 
emitlemeet halders, ladiae aaa
nee IBdian PPR holders, and ether 
Indian tribes; potential effects on 
third parties; environmental 
impacts and effects on threatened 
and endangered species; comments 
from interested parties, 
particularly parties who may be 
affected by the proposed action; 
and other relevant factors, 
including the direct or indirect 
consequences of the proposed 
Iatemate Storage Agreomeat on 
the financial interests of the United 
States. 

The Seeretary :will respoad to the 
£eqQeSt within 120 clays. Howe¥er, 
if !he f)l'0flooal ia"l9lv:es siga-ifKaat 
ew,tireame&tal. compliaBGe 
aeti·lities 0F etheF issees sadi lhat 
120 clays is aa iasuffiaeat perioo 
m whioo le Fespoad; lhe Seeretaey· 
will oommeeiGate Ibis te all parties 
le !he Pf0fl0Sed FeEj¼leSt aaG � eat 
a seheoole by whioo SHOO w8t'k 
will he ooml)leted 0F s\l€h issaes 
Fesel>,1ed. 1B that ease, !he 
Seefetafy will readeF a deasioa 
within 90 clays ef eempletioa ef 
1he eevireameetal oompliaaGe 
aetivities and resolutiee ef ether 
·. r:.r: .. . \ 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

In considering wbedler to execute .a 
St.cr.lj?e and lnltt'Stale Rclease 
Ae:re:emmt. the Secret.arv may 
request. and lhe non-Federal parties 
must provide, any additional 
supporting data necessarv to dearly 
1!et forth both the details of the 
prooosed transaction and the 
eligibility of the parties to 
particioate as State-authorized 
entities in the proDOSed transaction. 
The Secretary will also consider: 
applicable law and executive orders; 
applicable contracts; potential 
effects on trust resources; potential 
effects on entitlement holders, 
including Indian tribes: potential 
immcts on the Upper Division 
States; potential effects on third 
parties; potential 
environmental impacts and potential 
effects on threatened and 
endangered species; comments from 
interested parties, particularly 
parties who may be affected by the 
proposed action; comments from the 
State airencies res�sible for 
consulting with the Secre� on 
matters related to the Colorado 
River; and other relevant factors, 
including the direct or indirect 
consequences of the proposed 
Stor�e and Interstate Release 
Agreement on the financial interests 
of the United States. 
Based on the consideration of the 
factors in this section. the Seaetarr 
may execute or decide not to 
execute a S�e and Interstate 
Release Agreement. 

17 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

ADWR suggested the list of factors 
to be considered by the Secretary 
should only include relevant factors 
in order to negate any inference that 
the Secretary would seek extraneous 
concessions as a condition of 
approval by linking unrelated issues 
to the agreement. This suggestion 
was not incorporated into the final 
rule. The final rule does not 
acknowledge the possibility of the 
Secretary linking unrelated issues to 
the agreement and expands the list 
of factors to be considered and 
specifying that the Secretary may 
execute or not execute an 
agreement. 

No comment made. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Author- (e) Assig:ement,; lateFsta!:e Storage

ized entity 
A:greemeats may be assigned in
whole or in part to authorized

assign- entities upon the l¼gfeoole&t of the
ment parties to the Interstate St:emge

Agreement aad apaa the applEMli
by the Seeretaey eoosisteat with
the reqwrements of� (b)
ef this seet:i:011.

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(d) Assigning interests to an
authorized en.ti�. Non-Federal
oarties to a Storage and Interstate
Release Agreement may assig!! their
interests in the Ae:reement to
authorized entities._ The assignment
can be in whole or in part. The
assi1mroent can onl)' be made if all
parties to the agreement aourove.

18 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

No comment made. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• BCPA Where approprlat:eto impleme&t 
the Iaterntate Stornge A� contracts

with the
the Secretary will contract for 
water deliveries under Section 5 of 

Secretary the Boulder Canyon Project Act. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(e} ReQuirement for coo:tracts uo.der 
the Boulder Canyon Projec:t Act. 
Release or diversicm of Colorado 
River water for storMe under this 

part must be sul)J)Orted by a water 
delivery contract with the Secretary 
in accordance with Section 5 of the 
BCPA. The onlv ex�tion to this 
�uirement is stor�e of Article 
11(D) (ofthe Decree) water by 
Federal or tribal entitlement holders. 
The release or diversion of 
Colorado River water that has been 
develooed or will be developed as 
ICUA under this oart also must be 
suooorted by a Section 5 water 
delivery contract 

(l} An authcrized enti!Y mav 
satisfy the requirement of this 
section throu.e:h a direct contract 
with the Secreun•. An authorized 
enti!Y also may satisfy the Section 5 
r�uirement of the BCP A, for 
ourooses of this oart. throw!h a valid 
subcontract with an entitlement 
holder that is authorized bv the 
St"L'Tf':tarV to subcontract for the 
deliv� of all or a QQrtion ofits 
entitlement. 

(2} For storing entities that do not 
otherwise hold a contract or valid 
subcontract for the deliv� of the 
water to be stored. the Storrure and 
Interstate Release Agreement will 
serve as the vehicle for satisfving 
the Section 5 r�uirement for the 
release or diversion of that water. 
(3} For consuming entities that do 
not otherwise hold a contract or 
valid subcontract for the delivm of 
the water to be released bv the 
Secre� as ICUA. the Storage and 
Interstate Release Agr_eement will 
serve as the vehicle for satisfi-ing 
the Section 5 r�uirement for the 
release or diversion of that water. 

19 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

A WBA commented on October 21, 
1998 in response to the re-opening 
of the comment period. A WBA 
explained that the critical role of the 
Storing Entity was not the receipt of 
water to be stored, but the ability to 
create ICUA when the store water 
was to be recovered by the 
Consuming Entity. Thus, the 
emphasis on the Storing Entity's 
entitlement holder status was 
misplaced. 

Secondly, A WBA explained that not 
all end users of Colorado River 
water are required to have a direct 
contract with the Secretary. A WBA 
is currently legally authorized to 
obtain Colorado River water from 
CA WCD and no further contractual 
authority is needed for A WBA to 
participate in interstate water 
banking. 

These concerns were addressed in 
part by this change in the rule, 
which allows and authorized entity 
to hold a subcontract with an 
entitlement holder that is authorized 
by the Secretary to subcontract. 
A WBA fits within this description. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Anticipa- Not included in the proposed rule.

tory
release of
ICUA

• Treaty Not included in the proposed rule. 

obliga-
tions

§ 414.4 Each amhera,ed entity will 
annually report to the Secretary, by 
January 31, the quantity of water it 

Reporting diverted and stored oe behalf of 
awh� users ia ether Lower require- Divisioo States aad the balaaee of 

ments and stefage et'edits remaieieg ia 

accounting iaterstate otomge fur eaeh eatit=)' as 

under 
of December 31 of-the prior 
calendar year. 

Storage 
and 

Interstate 
Release 
Agree-
ments. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

{fl Anticinatorv released ICUA. 
The Secretani m� release OJA to 
a .consuming enti!Y before the actual 
develooment of ICUA bv the storing 
entitv if die storing enti!Y certifies to 
lhe Secraarv that ICUA will be 
develooed durin.e: that same ffllr that 
otherwise would not have existed. 

{1) These anticipatorv releases 
will only be made in the same year 
that the ICUA is developed_ 

(2) Before an anticioat<XY release.
the Sec:retarv must be satisfied that 
the storing entin, will develQR the 
necessarv ICUA in the same 
year that the ICUA is to be released.. 
{g) Trea!Y oblii?ations. Prior to 
executing any specific Storage and 
Interstate Release A2reements. the 
United States will consult with 
Mexico thro)!gb the International 
Boundarv and Water Commission 
under the boundarv water treaties 
and other a1wlicable international 
agreements in forc.e between the two 
countries. 
(a} Annual reoort to the Secretarv. 
Each storing entity will submit 
an annual report to the Secretary 
containing the material rCQUired bv 
this section. The reoort will be due 
on a date to be ae:reed uPOl1 by the 
parties to the Storage and Intecstate 
Release Agreement The report 
must include: 

(1) The quantity of water diverted
and stored during the prior year 
under all Storage and Interstate 
Release Agreements; and 

(2) The total guantin• of stored
water available to support the 
development of ICUA under each 
Storage and ln'terstate Release 
Agreement to which the stcring 
enti!Y is a party as of December 31 
of the prior calendar year. 

(b) How the Secretarv aocounts
for diverted and stored water. The 
Secretary will account for water 
diverted and stored under Storage 
and Interstate Release Agreements 
in the records maintained under 
Article V of the Decree. 

20 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

A WBA suggested that the Storing 
State certify to the Secretary that 
ICUA has been or will be created. 

Anticipatory release is acceptable in 
situations where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that the stored water 
will be used in place of the ICUA. 
If other proposals are offered, they 
will be carefully examined to insure 
that ICUA is actually being created. 

No comment made. 

A WBA suggested the reporting date 
should be more flexible as "a date to 
be agreed upon by the parties". This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

A WBA suggested the rule should 
only require authorized entities in a 
Storing State to report storage 
amounts. This suggestion was 
incorporated into the final rule. 

A WBA suggested the phrase "on 
behalf of authorized users in other 
Lower Division States and the 
balance of storage credits remaining 
in interstate storage for each entity" 
should be eliminated. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

A WBA suggested the description of 
accounting for ICUA in the 
Consuming State should be 
clarified. This suggestion was 
incorporated into the final rule. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

This water will be accounted for, 
in the records maintained by the 
Secretary under Article V of the 
Decree, as a consumptive use in 
the Storing State for the year in 
which it is stored. 
In the records maintained by the 
Secretary under Article V of the 
Decree, the lak=iBg &f 
unused apportionment for use in 
a Coosamiag State by an 
aath� entity in r�tioe of 
its stootge GFedits will be 
accounted for as consumptive use 
by the Consuming State of unused 
apportionment in the year the 
water is used, the same as with any 
other unused apportionment taken 
by that State. 
The Secretary will maintain 
individual balances of .sterage 
GFedits established by the 
offstream storage af water uader 
IBterstate Stafage Agreemeats. 
The balances will be reduced when 
intentionally created unused 
apportionment is developed by the 
aathC'Jfrae8 entity in a Staring State 
aaEi made a>,railable fet use in a 
Goosnmiag State. 

§ 414.5 (a) No guaraetee of water quality.
The Secretary does not warrant
the quality of water released or

Water delivered under interstate

Quality. agreemeats, and the United States
will not be liable for damages of
any kind resulting from water

• Water quality problems. The United

quality States will not be under any
obligation to construct or furnish
water treatment facilities to
maintain or improve water quality
standards.

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(1) The Secretary will account for
the water that is diverted and 'SO"ed 
by a storing entity as a consumptive 
use in the Storing State for the year 
in which it is stored. 

(2) The Secretarv will account for
the diversion andcoo.si1ID�ve use
of ICUA by a consuming enti.tv as a
consumptive use m the Consuming
State of unused apportionment
under Article 11(8}(6) of the Decree
in the year the water is released in
the same manner as any other
unused apportionment taken by that
State.

(3) The Secretary will maintain
individual balances of the quantities
of water stored under a Storage and
Interstate Release Airreement and
available to supoort the
develooment of ICUA. The
appropriate balances will be reduced
when ICUA is developed by the
storing entity and released by the
Secre� for use by a consuming
entity.

(a) Water Quality is not guaranteed.
The Secretary does not warrant the
quality of water released or
delivered under Storage and
Interstate Release Agreements, and
the United States will not be liable
for damages of any kind resulting
from water quality problems. The
United States i§ not under any
obligation to construct or furnish
water treatment facilities to maintain
or improve water quality except as
may otherwise be m:ovided in
relevant Federal law.

21 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 
Proposed Rules 

A WBA suggested specific reference 
to Article II(B)(6) of the Decree for 
the authority of the Consuming State 
to use ''unused apportionment." 
These suggestions were 
incorporated into the final rule. 

A WBA suggested the term "storage 
credit" should be deleted. This 
suggestion was incorporated into the 
final rule. 

The proposed rule provided that the 
"credits" established by the storage 
would be reduced when 
intentionally created unused 
apportionment is developed. The 
final rule states that the appropriate 
balances will be reduced when 
ICUA is developed by the storing 
entity and released by the Secretary. 
If the consuming entity requests 
development of ICUA then rejects 
its delivery, waste could occur. This 
problem may be resolvable within 
the terms of the Agreement. 

No comment made. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Water (b) Water quality standards. All
eealmetaf& OE Feaeml eatitlemeatquality
heldefs, in diverting, using, and

standards returning Colorado River water,
must comply with all rele>laat
water pollution 1aws and
regulations of the United States,
the Storing State, and the
Consuming State, and must
obtain all applicable permits or
licenses from the appropriate
Federal, State, or local authorities
regarding water quality and water
oollution matters.

§ 414.6 (a) Ensuring environmental
compliance. The Secretary will
easw-e that environmental

Environ- compliance is eempletee. lhe

mental Seeret.ary will be respoosible for

compliance 
E!llSl:lriB:g compliance with the
National Environmental Policy

and Act of 1969, as amended, and the

funding of 
Endangered Species Act of 1973,
as amended, and will integrate the

Federal requirements of other statutes,

costs. laws, and executive orders as
required for Federal actions taken
under this part.

• Ensuring
compli-
ance

Text from the Final 
Rule 

Underlines indicate new text 

(b) Required water quality
standards. All entities, in diverting,
using, and returning Colorado River
water, must:

ill Comply with all applicable 
water pollution laws and regulations 
of the United States, the Storing 
State, and the Consuming State; and 

ill Obtain all applicable permits 
or licenses from the appropriate 
Federal, State, or local authorities 
regarding water quality and water 
pollution matters. 

(a) Ensuring environmental
compliance. The Secretary will
complete environmental compliance
documentation, compliance with the
National Environmental Policy Act
of 1969, as amended, and the
Endangered Species Act of 1973, as
amended; and will integrate the
requirements of other statutes, laws,
and executive orders as required for
Federal actions to be taken under
this part.

22 

ADWR/AWBA 
Comments on the 
Proposed Rules 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 



Final Rule Text from the 
Section Proposed Rule 

Strikeouts indicate text 

deleted in final rule 

• Responsi- (b) Responsibility for

bility for environmental compliance work.

compli-
Authorized entities feEJW:!Slmg
Secretarial �;al af'. an

ance interstate traBsaelion p1:1FSuaat to
this part may prepare the
appropriate documentation and
compliance document for a
proposed Federal action such as
�mg a Pfeposee interstate
traasaetioo. Saeh compliance
documents must meet the
standards set forth in
Reclamation's National
Environmental Policy
Act Handbook before they can be
adopted.

• Agree- All costs incurred by the 

ment United States in evaluating, 
processing, and/or apfl'f0¥ing 

costs tnmsaetieas eateFeEI into under this 
part must be funded by the parties 
lhat � 
the traasaetioo. 

Text from the Final 

Rule 
Underlines indicate new text 

(b) Responsibility for environmental
compliance work. Authorized
entities seeking to enter into a
Storage and Interstate Release
Agreement under this part may
prepare the appropriate
documentation and compliance
document for a proposed Federal
action, such as execution of a
proposed Stora� and Interstate 
Release Agreement The_compliance 
documents must meet the standards 
set forth in Reclamation's national 
environmental policy guidance 
before they can be adopted. 

(c) ResQQ!!sibili!}'. for funding of
Federal c.osts. All costs incurred by
the United States in evaluating,
processing, and/or executing a
Swrage and Interstate Release
Agreement under this part must be
funded in advance by the authorized
entities that are oartv to that
a2reement.

23 

ADWR/AWBA 

Comments on the 

Proposed Rules 

No comment made. 

No comment made. 



December 15, 1999 

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES 
Office of Legal Services 

500 North Third Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85004 
Telephone 602 417-2420 

Fax 602 4 I 7-2415 

Regulations for Offstream Storage of Colorado River Water, 43 CFR § 414 

Dear Interested Party: 

JANE DEE HULL 

Governor 

RITA P. PEARSON 

Director 

The Arizona Water Banking Authority (A WBA) is authorized to engage in interstate banking of 
Colorado River water in cooperation with other states of the Lower Division of the Colorado 
River Basin. The State of Nevada, through the Southern Nevada Water Authority, is interested 
in negotiating a contract with the A WBA for interstate banking. A WB A's authority is limited by 
the following requirements: 

The authority [A WBA] shall not enter into contracts with agencies 
in California and Nevada for the storage of water on their behalf 
until both of the following occur: 

1. Regulations are in effect, promulgated by the secretary
of the interior of the United States, that facilitate and
allow the contractual distribution of unused entitlement
under article Il(B)(6) of the decree.

2. The director [of the Department of Water Resources]
finds that the rules promulgated by the secretary of the
interior adequately protect this state's rights to
Colorado river water, as those rights are defined by the
decree.

A.RS.§ 45-2427(C). The Director of the Department of Water Resources has requested a legal
opinion from the Department's Chief Counsel on whether these standards have been met.

As part of the process of developing the legal opinion, we are planning to hold a public meeting 
on Thursday, January 13, 2000 at 1:00 p.m. at the Arizona Department of Water Resources, 
Conference Room A, 500 North Third Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85004. 

This public meeting and the legal opinion will focus only on whether the statutory criteria 
(quoted in the block indent above) have been met. We will not focus on the contractual or 



business aspects of banking water for the Southern Nevada Water Authority or any other 
potential customer. If we detennine that the statutory criteria have been met, we will announce 
that decision to the A WBA at a public meeting. The A WBA may then decide whether it wishes 
to pursue the business aspects of interstate banking, and the parameters it may wish to set for 
negotiation. 

If you cannot attend the public meeting, or otherwise wish to submit comments in writing, please 
address them to the undersigned at the Department of Water Resources. Comments should be 
received no later than the close of business on January 13, 2000. 

Thank you for your interest in this program. 

Sincerely, 

Michael J. Pearce 
Chief Counsel 



Governors' Representatives 
on Colorado River Operations 

Arizona, Colorado, Nevada, New Mexico, 
Utah and Wyoming 

December 6, 1999 

Tom Hannigan, Director 
California Department of Water Resources 
1416 Ninth Street 
P.O. Box 942836 
Sacramento, California 84236-0001 

Jerry Zimmerman, Director 
Colorado River Board of California 
770 Fairmont Avenue, #100 
Glendale, California 91203-1035 

Dear Tom and Jerry: 

As the representatives of our respective governors, we believe it appropriate to provide you 
and the California Colorado River water management interests our initial reactions to the 
Quantification Agreement reached between Imperial Irrigation District, Coachella Valley 
Water District and the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California. We wish to 
thank you for hosting the meeting in Ontario on November, 1th. We found it to be helpful 
and informative. As the meeting concluded, we collectively attempted to address the next 
steps in a process intended to lead to an agreement among the Seven Basin States 
pertaining to a number of Colorado River operational and decree accounting matters. The 
purpose of this letter is to expand upon our comments at that meeting, and to clarify our 
expectations concerning further discussions. 

As we expressed to you at the briefing, we have a number of serious concerns regarding 
the "conditions precedent" portion of the Quantification Agreement. We were pleased to 
be advised by you and David Hayes, that those issues are open to discussion and 
negotiation with the other Basin States. 

As you know, the Basin States, with the exception of California, prepared two significant 
documents related to interim operational criteria for the Lower Basin in late 1998. The 
first, dated October 20,1998 and titled, "Background and Principles for Negotiation -
Special Interim Criteria for Releases of Water from Lake Mead during Implementation of 
the California 4.4 Plan," lists nine principles critical to the adoption of any interim 

1 



•' 

Colorado River operating criteria. The second, dated December 4, 1998 and titled, 
"Proposal for Interim Lake Mead Reservoir Operation Criteria Related to Surplus, Normal, 
and Shortage Year Declarations," expanded on the first paper and like the first, presented a 
consensus proposal to California. These written proposals ·were our attempt to expedite 
negotiations, if and when, California water interests were able to resolve their internal 
differences and complete the long awaited 4.4 Plan. While we advanced our principles for 
negotiation and our reservoir operations concepts prior to completion of the California 
internal process, we were unwilling, and continue to be unwilling, to begin negotiations 
until the very reason we began these discussions has been addressed -- namely, that 
California commit to enter into a defined, enforceable program to reduce its dependence on 
Colorado River water over its basic entitlement, in a way that avoids undue risk of 
shortage to the other Basin States (see our letter to David Kennedy and Gerald Zimmerman 
dated December 9, 1996). 

The Ontario briefing made it clear that while the Quantification Agreement was an integral 
part of the 4.4 Plan, it is not the 4.4 Plan. That document is still being developed. It is 
apparent from the text ofthe Quantification Agreement and the responses to our questions, 
that the proposed conservation transfers will not, by themselves, allow MWD to maintain a 
full aqueduct within California's 4.4 mafbasic apportionment. 

We cannot over-emphasize the need for California to commit to reduce its Colorado River 
uses to 4.4 maf in order to gain support within our states for the more flexible operating 
criteria California desires. Although the discussion of surplus.guidelines in Exhibit A of 
the Quantification Agreement states that more liberal operating criteria will provide 
general benefits to all water users, the reality is that the vast majority of the benefits will 
accrue to California. Nevada and Arizona are just now approaching full utilization of their 
basic apportionments. The opportunity for those states to use significant amounts of 
surplus water over the next fifteen years is quite limited and in most cases, does not offset 
the potential negative impacts and risks created by the drawdown of Lake Mead and Lake 
Powell. These impacts may include increased risk of fu� shortages, higher delivery 
costs, potentially degraded water quality and lost recreation benefits. Moreover, the Upper 
Basin States receive no direct benefits from surplus declarations, but must bear the 
negative impacts of having Lake Powell lowered as a result of equalization criteria. 

As the representatives of our states' governors, we must be able to explain the benefits, and 
justify the risks, of adopting more liberal operating criteria to our legislators, congressional 
members, water users and the general citizenry. The sole benefit to our states is 
California's guarantee that it will reduce its basic demands for Colorado River water to 4.4 
maf. This issue has concerned the Basin States for over seventy years. The temporary use 
of some surplus water to provide a "soft landing" to California may well be worth the risks 
created but without the promise of a "light at the end of the tunnel" through the 
implementation of a 4.4. Plan, there is very little hope that we can muster support within 
our states to liberalize the operating criteria. 

The Interior Department presentation of their proposed process for developing interim 
operating criteria set forth an extremely ambitious schedule. It is undoubtedly driven by 

2 



the desire of the current administration to complete the adoption of interim operating 
criteria prior to the end of their term in office. We recognize that completion of the 
process during their term could avoid the delays that inevitably result from a "changing of 
the guard." However, we do not believe this schedule should drive our Seven Basin State 
discussion process. The issues are too important to be rushed for expediencies' sake, nor 
do we feel any extra pressure to make concessions based on the proposed schedule. 

The criteria proposed in the Quantification Agreement goes far beyond what we 
understood to be California's principal concern-that economic disruption to MWD's 
member agencies be avoided by allowing continued access to a full supply of Colorado 
River water while conservation measures are being gradually implemented. Our reading of 
the California proposal is that it goes far beyond that objective and makes large volumes of 
water available to California agriculture and groundwater banking activities. The generous 
availability of surplus water to agriculture negates the limitations imposed by quantifying 
their rights. IfIID or CVWD are not required to limit themselves to the water use 
limitation contained within their Quantification Agreement, there are no consequences. 
This is because the unlimited surplus provided by Level 1 overrides any limits. We have 
been, and continue to be, opposed to allowing unlimited surpluses to be declared for 
agricultural uses unless the risk of spill is much greater than would be the result of 
California's proposed criteria. Even proposed Level 2 provides surplus water for off
stream storage when Lake Mead storage has been reduced by one-half. 

These and other provisions of the Quantification Agreement appear to be inconsistent with 
the goal that MWD maintain a full aqueduct to avoid severe economic impacts and 
disruptions within their service area. For example, the proposal to transfer 35,000 acre-feet 
ofMWD's State Water Project supply and 20,000 acre-feet of previously conserved water 
to CVWD gives the appearance that MWD is able to absorb some shortages. Also, the 
proposed delivery of interim surplus Colorado River water for storage in groundwater 
basins via the Colorado River Aqueduct would reduce deliveries to M&I users, which we 
understood to be the critical need. 

All six states have repeatedly stated that we are willing to engage in serious discussions 
about the development of multi-year surplus and shortage criteria that will meet, for an 
interim period only, at least part of the demand for surplus water in California. In order for 
those discussions to be fruitful, however, certain steps must be taken by your water 
agencies. First and foremost, a 4.4 Plan must be adopted that commits California to an 
enforceable program to reduce its dependence on Colorado River water. Second, we 
expect that any operating criteria will be focused on meeting California's objective of 
protecting its M&I economy within the 4.4 maf base apportionment. Third, any criteria 
must be of an interim nature only, sufficient to provide a cushion to California while it 
steps down its use through meaningful conservation measures and water transfers. Fourth, 
we expect that in the development of interim operating criteria, full consideration will be 
given to the impacts and risks that extraordinary releases from Lake Mead may create. 
And finally, we expect that the direct beneficiaries of the "soft landing" interim surplus 
criteria should be responsible for bearing the risks, and mitigating the impacts on others 
caused by those criteria. 

3 



The California water agencies have made great progress in c�mpletion of the 
Quantification Agreement and are to be congratulated. California can build on what has 
been started by working with us to develop reasonable interim operating criteria that will 
be acceptable to our constituencies. We remain hopeful these historic accomplishments 
will be realized. 

Very truly yours, 

Director 
Arizona Department of Water Resources 

Southern Nevada Water Authority 

Upp o � 
State ofNew Mexico 

Cc: Bruce Babbitt, Secretary 

alcher 
Exeanive Director 
CoJondo Depanmem o!Naniral Resources 

Richard Bunker 
Chahman 
Colmado River Commission ofNevada 

Thomas C. Tumey 
Govemars R.eprcsentath,e 
State of New Mexico 

���-/ D. � n 

Dlrcctar 
Utah Division of Water Resoun:es 

U.S. Department of the Interior 
David Hayes, Acting Deputy Secretary 

U.S. Department of the Interior 

4 



COVER 

SHEET 

DATE: 

FROM: 

TO: 

COMMENTS:

December 13, 1999

Nannette Flores �

Water Banking Authority Members

Tom Griffin - Vice Chairman
Bill Chase - Secretary
George Renner -
Dick Walden 
Representative Gail Griffin -
Senator Ken Bennett -

520-754-4622
602-495-5650
623-931-9250
520-791-2853
602-542-4030
602-542-3429

FAX 

The following is the draft 2000 Annual Plan of Operation, which will be reviewed at the 
upcoming Water Banking meeting. Overview of the public meetings and any comments will be
reviewed, and with any needed changes, the plan should be ready for approval.

If you have any comments prior to Wednesday, December 15, please forward them to Tim
Henley or Gerry Wildeman.

Nan

enc.

From the desk of ... 
Nannette Flores 

Administrative Assistant 
Arizona Water Banking Authority 

500 North Third Street 
Phoenix AZ 85004 

602-417-2418
Fax: 602-417-2401 

Web Page: www.awba.state.az.us 


